UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

UTILIZATION OF TWO BRACKISH WATER SYSTEMS NEAR CAPE COAST (GHANA) AS NURSERIES FOR JUVENILE MARINE FISHES

KEZIA BAIDOO

2018

UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

UTILIZATION OF TWO BRACKISH WATER SYSTEMS NEAR CAPE COAST (GHANA) AS NURSERIES FOR JUVENILE MARINE FISHES

BY

KEZIA BAIDOO

Thesis submitted to the Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences of the School of Biological Sciences, University of Cape Coast, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of Master of Philosophy Degree in Zoology

APRIL 2018

DECLARATION

Candidate's Declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original work and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Date: 25/10/2014 Candidate Signature: .

Name: Kezia Baidoo

Principal Supervisor's and Co-Supervisor's Declaration

We hereby declare that the preparation of this thesis was supervised by us and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Principal Supervisor Signature: $M_{\frac{1}{2}}$ Date: $\frac{12}{12}$ Date: $\frac{12}{12}$ Name: Rof. Found BLAM

Co-Supervisor Declaration Signature: Date: 12/11/2	<u>018</u>
Name: DR. NOBLE KWANE ASARE	

ABSTRACT

The results of a 6- month study of marine juvenile fish communities of two brackish water bodies (Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon) in the Central Region of Ghana are presented. Fishes were sampled by using a 20 mm mesh cast-net from November 2016 to April 2017 over tidal and diel cycles. Twenty three marine fish species belonging to 15 families were from the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon which indicated low species richness compared to that reported in these same water bodies. Fishes of the family Mugilidae were dominant and the five species (Mugil bananensis, Mugil curema, Mugil cephalu, Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumerillii) sampled accounted for 54.63% of the fish from the estuary and 77.69% of the fish of the lagoon samples. The similarity indicators between the two communities (Index of similarity =0.89) during the study were similar and this reflected in the closeness of Shannon-Wiener index of diversity (H') values of 2.05 for the estuary and 1.55 for the lagoon marine communities. The two water bodies showed diel variation in catch rate which were out of phase with each other. There were fluctuations over the diel cycle in the number of species entering the brackish waters, number of individuals and their biomass. These fluctuations did not correlate with variation in temperature but they appeared to be influenced by salinity of the estuary and the lagoon.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I acknowledge the immense support of USAID/UCC Fisheries and Coastal Management Capacity Building Support Project for sponsoring this work. My profound gratitude goes to Prof. John Blay and Dr. Noble Asare of the Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. I am very grateful for their advice, guidance and their supervision of this thesis.

I am also grateful for the moral support of all the academic and non-academic staff of the Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. I am really thankful for their words of encouragement. I wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Okyere who has been an inspiration and a counselor to me.

I would further like to thank Mr. John Eshun and my two fishermen Mr. Kwame Elijah and Israel Ahiadoh for their time and support throughout the six months of sampling. My appreciation also goes to my lovely family of my parent, Mr. Emmanuel Baidoo and Mrs. Mary Baidoo and to my siblings Paul Baidoo, Esther Baidoo, Felix Baidoo, Obed Baidoo and Docas Baidoo for their massive moral support and all who assisted me in diverse ways.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, Mr. Emmanuel Baidoo and Mrs. Mary Baidoo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

DECLARATION	Error! Bookmark not defined.
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	х
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background of Study	1
1.2 Statement of research problem and justif	ication 5
1.3.0 Objectives of the study	8
1.3.1 Main objective	8
1.3.2 Specific objectives	8
1.4 Summery	8
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Biodiversity and aquatic life of lagoons a	and estuaries 9
2.2 Importance of estuaries and lagoon ecos	ystems to fisheries 10
2.3 Abundance and distribution of Juvenile	fishes 14
2.4 Water Quality and aquatic life of lagoon	s and estuaries 17
2.5 Diel shifts of fish community	20
2.6 Food habits and trophic relationships of	fish communities 23
CHAPTER THREE: MATERIALS AND M	ETHODS 31
3.1 Study area	31

3.2 Diel measurements of temperature and salinity	33	
3.3 Diel fish sampling and data collection	33	
3.4 Determination of length-weight relationship	33	
3.5 Determination of marine fish species composition	34	
3.6 Calculation of ecological diversity indices	34	
3.7 Determination of similarity between the fish communities	35	
3.8 Stomach content analysis	35	
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS		
4.1 Fish species occurrence in the two brackish waters	36	
4.2 Percentage composition of marine species in the two water bodies	38	
4.3 Size range and modal size of marine fish species in the two water bodies 39		
4.5 Diversity of marine fish species	44	
4.6 Similarity between the estuarine and lagoon marine fish communities	45	
4.7 Diel fluctuations in number of marine species, abundance and biomass		
of fish	45	
4.8 Diel Variations in Temperature and Salinity	49	
4.9 Diel fluctuations in number and biomass of fish, and environmental		
parameters (combined data)	51	
4.11 Diel fluctuations in number and biomass of fish, and environmental		
parameters (combined data)	53	
4.12 Food Habits of Juvenile Marine Fishes	55	
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION		
5.1 Biodiversity and similarity of the fish communities	63	
5.2 Species size distribution and length-weight relationship	65	
5.3 Food habits of marine fishes	67	

5.4 Diel Fluctuations in fish species	73	
5.5 Summery	74	
CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS AND RECORMANDATIONS		
6.1 Conclusions	75	
6.2 Recommendations	76	
6.3 Summery	77	
REFERENCES	78	
APPENDICES		
Appendex A: Length-weight relationship for Liza dumerilli form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	109	
Appendex B. Length-weight relationship for Liza falcipinnis form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	110	
Appendex C. Length-weight relationship for Mugil bananensis form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	111	
Appendex D: Length-weight relationship for Mugil bananensis form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	112	
Appendex E: Length-weight relationship for Sardinella aurita form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	113	
Appendex F: Length-weight relationship for Eusinostomus melanopterus		
form (a) Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	114	
Appendex G: Length-weight relationship for Lutjanus fulgens form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	115	
Appendex H: Length-weight relationship for <i>Lujanus goreensis</i> form (a)		
Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon	116	
Appendex I: Length-weight relationship for Caranx hippos form (a)		

LIST	OF	TABLES	

Table	e P	age
1	Occurrence of marine and non marine species in Kakum River	
	Estuary and Benya Lagoon (FW= fresh water, BW= brackish water),	
	+ present, - absent	37
2	The size range of marine species in Benya lagoon and Kakum river	
	estuary	41
3	The length-weight relationships of 9 abundant fish species collected	
	from the Kakum River Estuary.	43
4	The length-weight relationships of 9 abundant fish species collected	
	from the Benya Lagoon.	44
5	Richness diversity and evenness indices for the fish communities of	
	the two water bodies	45

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	ire H	Page
1	Map of Ghana and plate showing the location of Kakum River	
	Estuary and Benya Lagoon	32
2	Percentage composition of marine fish species in Kakum River	
	Estuary and Benya lagoon	39
3	Diel fluctuations in the (a) number of species, (b) abundance and (c))
	biomass (wet weight) of fish caught from Kakum River Estuary	46
4	Diel fluctuations in the (a) number of species, (b) abundance and (c))
	biomass (wet weight) of fish caught from Benya Lagoon	48
5	Diel Variation of (a) temperature and (b) salinity (Error bars: +/- 1	
	SE) in the Kakum River Estuary (\leftrightarrow : dark period) on Nov 2016-	
	April 2017	49
6	Diel Variation of (a) temperature and (b) salinity (Error bars: +/-	
	1 SE) in the Benya lagoon (\leftrightarrow : dark period) on Nov 2016- April	
	2017	51
7	Mean (a) abundance and (b) biomass (wet weight) of fish caught,	
	mean (c) temperature (°C) and (d) salinity of Kakum River	
	Estuary (\leftrightarrow : dark period) from November 2016 – April 2017	
	(vertical bars denoted standard erro)	52
8	Mean (a) abundance, (b) biomass (g) of fish caught, (c) temperature	e
	(°C) and (d) salinity (‰) of Benya Lagoon (\leftrightarrow : dark period) from	
	November 2016 – April 2017 (vertical bars denoted standard erro)	54
9	Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomach of Mugil	
	curema, Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumarilli, Mugil bananensis, and	

	Mugli cephalus from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon	56
10	Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of Caranx	
	hippos from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon	57
11	Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of Sardinella	
	aurita from Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon	58
12	Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of Lutjanus	
	fulgens, Lutjanus goreensis and Lutjanus agnnens from Kakum River	
	Estuary and Benya lagoon	59

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of Study

A high level of biodiversity is necessary and also provides indications of relative good health status of the ecosystem. Therefore, maintaining biodiversity is necessary in order to assure the survival and productivity of ecosystems and livelihoods as a whole.

The Ghanaian waters, which form part of the Gulf of Guinea, are endowed with abundant fishery resource (Mensah & Quaatey, 2002; Mehl *et al.*, 2004, 2005). The most important pelagic fish species exploited in the Ghanaian coastal fisheries are the sardinellas, namely *Sardinella aurita* and *Sardinella maderensis*, which are important in the entire Gulf of Guinea (Bennerman & Cowx, 2002). Fish currently provides the greatest percentage of the world's protein consumption and, in Ghana, it accounts for about 60% of the animal protein intake (FAO, 2006).

However, the current global situation is likely to change soon as most fisheries are being fished at levels above their maximum sustainable yields, with many stocks having been overexploited (FAO, 2006). As a result, the health, economy, and livelihoods of several communities are under serious threat. The reason is that although fisheries resources are renewable, when over-exploited, they cannot be easily restored to their previous levels. In 2004 the fish requirement of Ghana was quoted at 700,000 metric tons while production was 300,000 metric tons leaving a deficit of 400,000 metric tons (Duffuor, 2005). In 2008, the Marine Fisheries Management Division (MFRD) of the Ministry of Agriculture reported the annual fish requirement as 880,000 metric tons but production averaged around 420,000 metric tons per annum, indicating a deficit of 460,000 metric tons per annum. Of the total amount of fish produced in the country about 84% comes from the marine fisheries with the remaining 16% coming from the Volta Lake, other inland waters and fish farms. Brackish water ecosystems (i.e. lagoons, estuaries and coastal marshlands) play a less significant role in fisheries production in Ghana at the moment although the FAO (1976) had estimated a production capacity of about 15000 metric tons per annum from these waters. Indirectly these brackish water bodies contribute to the fisheries by providing important nursery grounds for some fishes of economic importance.

In Ghana, lagoon and eastuarine fisheries are artisanal. They are prominent during the periods when catches from marine fishing are low and they play an important role in the economic lives of the induviduals living closer to them. For instance; Pauly (1976) investigated the biology, fishery and potential for aquaculture of *Tilapia melanotheron* in a small West African lagoon and recorded that the yield of Sakumo 2 lagoon near Tema, had been estimated at 50 kg of fish per day or 114 t/ year (Koranteng, 1995) which corresponds to recorded figures for the Muni lagoon (Winneba) and Densudelta were 75 t/ year and 2701 year respectively (Koranteng, 1995).

Coastal water bodies are considered among the most productive ecosystems and provide critical ecological services for a wide array of resident and migratory species. The essential services of lagoons and estuaries include provision of food, habitat complexity, filtration, buffering from extreme natural forces and refuge from predation, all of which enhance the estuarine nursery function for juvenile life stages of many commercially important

2

species (Beck *et al.*, 2001; Nagelkerken *et al.*, 2013; Sheaves *et al.*, 2014). These have been exploited by small-scale fishermen settling along these coastal water bodies for generations to supports an informal workforce for better standard of living and proportion of the dietary resources of the human populations clustered around the various lagoons. Kapetsky (1981) in a comparative study of fishery yields from lagoons and other exploited marine and freshwater ecosystems concluded that coastal lagoons are more productive than the marine and freshwater ecosystems and this makes lagoons variable in terms of productivity. Much of the variability in yield among coastal systems is due to varying intensity of harvest (Kapetsky, 1981).

The structure of fish community depends on biotic and abiotic factors where salinity is the most important characteristic in coastal environments. Wide fluctuations in salinity may occur seasonally, annually or with the tide and may differ from the lower reaches nearest the sea to the riverine upper reaches. According to Whitfield (1990), temperature changes in coastal water bodies are noticeable in the temperate and polar latitudes and often affect fish population densities. The shifts in temperature from wet and dry periods strongly affect the rate at which vital nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorus and silica enter the system from the surrounding watershed (Constanza *et al*, 1993). Domestic sewage and industrial waste could modify species composition and affect food chains by shortening them in estuarine systems (de Sylva, 1975).

Measures of relative quality of habitats include density, sutable environmental conditions, survivorship and growth rates of individuals and populations residing in alternative habitat types. There has been little effort to synthesize existing information and data to assess coastal water bodies patterns of nursery function, and threats to species of ecologic and economic importance that use Lagoons and estuaries for juvenile rearing. Because threats have been identified to be the main factor that may affect the entire coastal water bodies (Halpern *et al.*, 2009, Gleason *et al.*, 2011, Merrifield *et al.*, 2011, Greene *et al.*, 2014), this lack of synthesis makes it difficult to identify strategies to strengthen fisheries production, or to alleviate threats to species and habitats of concern.

Coastal water bodies are often heavily impacted by the growing human population along the world's coasts that develops and adds stress to coastal environments and resources (Vitousek *et al.*, 1997). Threats to lagoons and estuaries and the organisms that rely on them come from a variety of sources, and can be either direct, such as excessive fishing (Jackson *et al.*, 2001) and habitat degradation and alteration (Lotze *et al.*, 2006), or indirect, such as climate change (Atrill and Power, 2002), eutrophication (Cloern, 2001; Rabalais *et al.*, 2002) and changes in community structure (Silliman *et al.*, 2005; Altieri, *et al.*, 2012; Hughes *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, these threats have been demonstrated to be widespread (Halpern *et al.*, 2009; Gleason *et al.*, 2011) and impacting populations of species of economic importance and conservation concern (Jackson *et al.*, 2001), while simultaneously reducing key functions of estuaries, including their nursery role (Beck *et al.*, 2001; Kennish, 2002).

1.2 Statement of research problem and justification

Ghana Lagoons and estuaries have a countless impact on the wellbeing of socio-economic and health of the communities living closer and beyond to them. The small-scale labour-intensive characteristic of lagoon fisheries provides protein, employment, and income for people in tropical countries whilst the surplus catch contributes to the food supply of many areas (Kapetsky, 1981). The shellfish as well as their shells are an invaluable resource in the ceramic, animal feed and building industries.

Lagoons and estuaries are used as nursery ground by many junenile marine species (Whitfield, 1994). The increasing anthropogenic practices of these ecosystems such as exploitation of mangroves for fuel wood, exploitation of juvenile fish stock and pollution pose a severe danger to the biodiversity of these fish communities. Again urbanization along the coast and changes in land use and climate can affect both the availability of acceptable nursery habitat and the recruitment of young fish to populations of economically important species (Cloern et al., 2007; Reum et al., 2011; Hughes et al., 2012). In Ghana, mangroves have been cleared in many areas to facilitate the manufacture of salt pans. These practices could lead to the damage of coastal environment, and recruitment of some species of commercial importants to the fishery. Additionally, eutrophication and resulting hypoxia from land-based nutrient sources, have been determined to occur along lagoons and estuaries (Hughes et al., 2011), and threaten their nursery function by reducing biodiversity and available habitat (Hughes et al., 2012, Hughes et al., 2013). Habitat alteration (e.g., dredging, filling, diking, draining) and eutrophication caused by human activities have also caused widespread loss of essential vegetated estuarine habitats, such as salt marsh (Larson, 2001) and seagrass (Hughes *et al.*, 2013). These habitats support vital ecosystem functions associated with estuaries and serve as nursery habitat for many commercially important species, such as Dungeness crab, Pacific herring and several species of salmon.

Moreover, within the general framework of an Ecosystem Approach to Fishery Management (EAFM), considerable and increasing interest is being devoted to identify the distribution and habitat needs of species throughout their life cycle (Ward *et al.*, 2012). Lack of understanding of the structure of the population vis-à-vis species distribution, richness and abundance, as well as in-situ physico-chemical factors that support them and their periodicity could pose challenges to any kind of resource management regime in the future.

Day and night succession has a strong influence on the relative distribution of several species, changing the composition and richness of fish assemblages (Gaelzer & Zalmon, 2008). The distributions of fish species are mainly determined by a complex series of responses to both the physical and biological characteristics of their environment. These responses allow individual fish species to select those habitats that offer the best combination of a high potential for growth and reproductive output with the lowest risk of mortality. The requirements of theses individual changes, however, and a habitat that is suitable at one hunger state, time of day or stage in the life history may not be suitable at another. Consequently, many species move from one habitat to another at a variety of spatial and temporal scales. Moreover, habitats themselves do not remain constant but vary frequently on a daily and seasonal basis. Therfore several studies has been conducted on Félix-Hackradt *et al.*, (2010) studied diel and tidal variation in surf zone fish assemblages of a sheltered beach in southern Brazil. (Gomes *et al.*, 2003; Godefroid *et al.*, 2004; Spach *et al.*, 2004) conducted a study generally related to spatial and temporal variations of the fish community structure, trophic ecology. Short-term changes in abundance occur mainly due to the tidal cycle, moon phase, and alternation of night and day (Oliveira-Neto *et al.*, 2004). Many studies have found different patterns of fish habitat use, with greater daytime catches (Allen & DeMarttini, 1983; Nash and Santos, 1998; Rooker and Dennis, 1991) and higher number of species and diversity during the night (Livingston, 1976; Nash & Santos, 1998; Lin & Shao, 1999).

Knowledge on the ecological habit of juvenile marine fishes could provide fundamental importance for the effective management of the fishery but in Ghana there is a dearth of information.

Little information is documented on diversity of brackish water fisheries in Ghana. The species composition has however, been reported in few cases (Blay & Asabere-Ameyaw, 1993). In understanding the on-going change that occureed in environmental conditions and the continual utilization of brackish water resources in the country, periodic monitoring of the biodiversity of these ecosystems require to be vigorously pursued to assess their status. Bases on the result of the assessments, an adaptation of management strategies will be necessary. This present study describes the current status of species diversity, similarity, richness, and size distribution of marine fishes entering two contrasting brackishwater environments in the Central Region of Ghana and their possible relationship with some environmental factors.

1.3.0 Objectives of the study

1.3.1 Main objective

This study seeks to investigate the feeding ecology and diel variability of the structure of fish community in Benya lagoon and Kakum river estuary to improve the understanding of temporal structure of fish population and to highlight issues of ecological concern

1.3.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives were to determine the species composition, richness and diversity of the marine finfish communities as well as the diel variation of the number of species, number of fish and biomass of marine species. Finally, the food habits of the species were also determined

1.4 Summary

In summery, understanding the on-going change occuring in environmental conditions and the continual utilization of brackish water resources in the country, periodic monitoring of the biodiversity of these ecosystems require to be vigorously pursued to assess their status.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Biodiversity and aquatic life of lagoons and estuaries

Biodiversity refers to the variability of living organisms from all sources including, *inter alia*- terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and their ecological complexes of which they are part (Duarte *et al.*, 2006).

The need for a better understanding of the role of biodiversity in the functioning of aquatic ecosystems has been raised by several authors (Duarte *et al.*, 2006; Ryan & Ntiamoa-Baidu, 2000; Scherer-Lorenzen, 2005; Neuman *et al.*, 2015). Neuman *et al.* (2015) identified that the function of an ecosystem depends on several factors which include biodiversity and a multiplicity of interactions between the physical, chemical and biological determinants. Humbert and Dorigo (2005) have stated that ecosystem functioning depends on several factors such as biodiversity and a multiplicity of interactions between the physical, chemical and biological determinants.

Lévêque (1995) investigated the role and consequences of fish diversity in the functioning of African freshwater ecosystems and mentioned that several studies attribute ecosystem function largely to processes such as storage and transfer of matter and energy at different temporal and spatial scales. Scherer-Lorenzen (2005) studied Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning and also argues that the function of an ecosystem is highly dependent on the functional traits of the organisms involved as well as the abiotic environment. Teixeira-de Mello *et al.* (2009) reported that the higher densities of small fish, which tend to aggregate among the macrophytes, often exert a high predation pressure on the zooplankton and thus reduce grazing on

phytoplankton, with implications for the clear water state of warm shallow lakes (Romo *et al.*, 2005; Meerhoff *et al.*, 2007). Jones and Sayer (2003) reported that, fish may also consume plant-associated macroinvertebrate grazers and indirectly enhance periphyton growth with cascading effects on plant growth and thus on water clarity, at least in temperate lakes.

However, there is little information on how the macroinvertebrate community responds to the potentially increased fish predation in warmer climates. Studies in subtropical shallow lakes (Meerhoff *et al.*, 2007) have shown lower taxon richness and significantly lower densities of plantassociated macroinvertebrates compared to similar temperate lakes, presumably as a result of the high densities of fish occurring within the macrophytes. Humbert and Dorigo (2005) investigated biodiversity and aquatic ecosystem functioning and pointed out that knowledge of the functional traits of biodiversity and ecological interaction between the biotic and abiotic environments is crucial for informed management decisions.

2.2 Importance of estuaries and lagoon ecosystems to fisheries

The ecological importance of estuaries and lagoons throughout the world is well recognized. Nagelkerken *et al.* (2013) identified that the high biological productive, scenic and physical diversity, abundant mineral resources as well as strategic location of coastal water bodies have gained great biologically and economic importance. Whitfield and Pattrick (2015) confirmed that these high productive ecosystems provide critical habitat and food for many organisms, including economically and ecologically important fish species. Barbier *et al.* (2011) studied the value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services and identified that coastal areas with large estuaries, broad wetlands and large

rivers support high fishery yield indicating that in general, coastal lagoons and estuaries with high proportion of salt marshes yield higher landings of fish. Garcia *et al.* (2001) investigated the dynamics of the shallow-water fish assemblage of the Patos Lagoon and estuary (Brazil) and reported that fish capture per unit area of estuaries was correlated with river discharge. Nixon (1995) discovered a relationship between aquatic primary production and fisheries yield which indicated that estuarine areas are more efficient in converting primary production into fish production than other water bodies. There have been various studies conducted on the abundance, distribution and diversity of larval and juvenile fishes in estuaries and lagoons due to their importance as nursery grounds in offering abundance of food and shelter for young fishes (Barletta *et al.*, 2005).

Chesney *et al.* (2000) cited an estimate of approximately two-thirds of the catch of commercially important fishes in the United States are dependent on estuarine habitat for the growth of the younger fishes and to increase population of fish stocks in the open sea. According to Jackson *et al.* (2001) lagoon and estuarine fish communities are highly variable and often experience large temporal changes in species composition and abundance. Many individual populations of fish show predictable seasonal patterns of abundance within a given estuary or lagoon which affect both seasonal and annual estimates of diversity of fish species (Sosa-López *et al.*, 2007). These measures of species diversity, in association with other indices of community structure and species composition have been used to make long term comparisons of changes in estuarine and lagoon biological communities in relation to environmental quality (Yoklavich *et al.*, 1991). In recent years, the

quest to increase food production for a growing population, among other reasons, has increased the importance of coastal fisheries. Brackish water fisheries provide the bulk of fish for semi-urban consumption. Nevertheless, these water bodies are currently under exploitation pressure (Hughes *et al.*, 2014); already, and periodical oscillations of yield are visible in some species of economically important as a result of inappropriate exploitation strategies and unauthorized methods of fishing by fishermen, such resulting from the lack of understanding of the population and ecosystem structure of the lagoons and estuaries.

In Ghana, lagoons and estuaries provide fisheries resources to the local communities residing near them (Mensah, 1979; Ntiamoa-Baidu, 1991; Blay & Asabere-Ameyaw, 1993). These water bodies are maily dominated by the Blackchain Tilapia, (Sarotherodon melanotheron) which constitutes about 90% of the catches (Blay & Asabere-Ameyaw, 1993) and juneniles of some marine species of commercial importance. These resources are actively exploited and for their sustenance require some form of regulatory measures. The capture of large amounts of small, immature fish of commercial species in brackish systems is a serious problem that threatens the economic sustainability of fisheries and the renewability of resources (Ward et al., 2012). Okyere et al. (2011) in a comparative study of ecological assessment of fish communities from coastal wetlands concluded that fish species composition, richness and diversity from the Essei lagoon generally recorded very low values and this observation could be attributed to intense artisanal fishing activities in these lagoons cannot be ruled out as a major impact on the lagoon fisheries. Such impacts have been reported elsewhere notably in South Africa (Tomlin & Kyle, 1998) and the Gulf of Thailand (Simpson, 1982). Despite the adoption of several technical measures (gear and fishing operation) aimed at protecting juveniles, the problems related to the excessive removal of immature specimens are far from being solved (Carbonell, 1997; Stergiou *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, the classical regulation of fisheries has thus far been based on limitations of the fishing capacity (licences), minimum landing sizes, and net mesh sizes (Maggs *et al.*, 2013); together with temporary fishing closures, but the establishment of no-fishing zones, particularly within nursery areas (lagoons and estuaries), has been increasingly ignored as an additional component as a strategic management tool for the fishery.

Hence, assessing the biodiversity and interactions between the biotic communities and the abiotic factors of coastal water bodies would give a broader understanding of the functions and ecological value of these ecosystems (Quinn, 2004). The role and the taboos by the local traditional religious believe in this regards is well known. Notwithstanding, fisheries of the brackish systems, apart from playing the noble role of providing a relatively cheap source of animal protein, also provide employment and to some extent reduce the rural-urban drift. Documenting and quantifying the nursery value of juvenile rearing habitat is important in the context of effectively highlighting efforts to conserve and restore coastal ecosystems and support sustained populations of fish and invertebrates (Maggs *et al.*, 2013), Although these studies are conducted at a population level and focus on the fishery target species, they include habitat conservation concerns and attempt to explain the organization of juvenile fish species by investigating the biotic

13

(benthic biocoenosis, availability of prey, presence of predators) and abiotic factors (temperature and salinity) that may affect them. Humbert and Dorigo (2005) have indicated that ecosystem functioning depends on several factors including biodiversity and a multiplicity of interactions between the physical, chemical and biological determinants. According to Lévêque (1995), several studies attribute ecosystem function largely to processes such as storage and transfer of matter and energy at different temporal and spatial scales. Scherer-Lorenzen (2005) also argues that the function of an ecosystem is highly dependent on the functional traits of the organisms involved as well as the abiotic environment. In agreement with Scherer-Lorenzen, (2005); Humbert and Dorigo, (2005), the functional traits of biodiversity and ecological interaction between the biotic and abiotic environments are crucial for informed management decisions.

2.3 Abundance and distribution of Juvenile fishes

The Indo-West Pacific region, stretching from the east coast of Africa through South and Southeast Asia to Australia and the Central Pacific, has the highest diversity of fishes in the world (at least 600 species in mangrove systems) (Selig *et al.*, 2014). Selig *et al.* (2014) investigated global priorities for marine biodiversity conservation and recorded that the high diversity of the marine species decreases latitudinal away from the equatorial core area in Southeast Asia, but larger subtropical mangrove systems still contain at least 100 species. Clayton (1993) studied the ecology of the mudskippers and identified that many species of mudskippers occur throughout this region, while others are restricted to particular regions. According to Clayton (1993), a special group of fish species found in mangroves is the mudskippers (family

Periophthalmidae) which occupy a specialized niche in the intertidal zone. Kruitwagen et al. (2007) investigated the influence of morphology and amphibious life-style on the feeding ecology of the mudskipper (Periophthalmus argentilineatus). It was confirmed that mudskipper (Periophthalmus argentilineatus) are physiologically and morphologically adapted to an amphibious existence in this zone with highly variable environmental conditions. Ishimatsu and Maggs et al. (2013) investigated the roles of environmental cues for embryonic incubation and hatching in mudskippers and recorded that mudskippers are able to dwell on exposed mudflats when other fish species are forced to retreat to deeper waters with outgoing tides. According to Tittensor et al. (2010), in all regions of tropical West Atlantic region from the Gulf of Mexico to northern South America, except the Indo-West Pacific, Sciaenidae are one of the dominant families. In the Indo-West Pacific, sciaenids are important in the equatorial regions of Southeast Asia, but much less so elsewhere (Tittensor et al., 2010); this pattern may be connected with the amount of rainfall and the degree to which coastal waters approach estuarine conditions.

There are important differences in the relative proportions of freshwater species, both between and within regions. In East Africa and Australia, however, freshwater species are usually insignificant components of the mangrove fish fauna (Blaber and Blaber, 1980). Barletta *et al.*, (2005) investigated the role of salinity in structuring the fish assemblages in a tropical estuary and confirmed that, freshwater species make up more of the fish fauna in tropical Atlantic mangrove systems than in the Indo-West Pacific or East Pacific, particularly in South America where many of the very diverse fauna of siluriid catfishes are common in estuaries. Baran and Hambrey, (1999) identified that in West Africa various silurids and cichlids make a significant contribution to mangrove fish communities. According to Blaber and Cyrus (1981) the equatorial regions of Southeast Asia have somewhat more freshwater species than other areas of the Indo-West Pacific, (Kwak *et al.*, 2007) but despite the diversity of the freshwater fish faunas of Borneo and Sumatra relatively few live in estuaries. Acosta (1997) studied use of multimesh gillnets and trammels nets to estimate fish species composition in coral reef and mangroves in the southwest coast of Puerto Rico mentioned that throughout the islands of the Caribbean most mangroves are non-estuarine and small in size (fringing), and (Nagelkerken *et al.*, 2000b); typically contain marine species dominated by the families Gerreidae, Haemulidae, Lutjanidae and Scaridae

A broad understanding of the dynamics, nature, and history of the coastal water body is economically and scientifically significant. For instance, in a situation where coastal systems are utilized for waste disposal, there is the need to understand the physical and biological dynamics of these systems to avoid excessive pollution (Kwei, 1977). Welcomme (1975) investigated the fisheries ecology of African floodplains and identified an increase in salinity and conductivity of the pool waters during the study period which was attributed to the concentration of dissolved ions with decreasing water volume (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2001). Biney (1982) assessed the state of pollution of some lagoons and estuaries in Ghana, where twelve of those coastal systems were classified as polluted to various extents such that two, (the Korle and Chemu) were grossly polluted, and eight estuaries studied were generally clean or only

slightly polluted. Odei *et al.* (1980) studyed the suitability of the Volta estuary for water sports, recommended that Ghana Tourist Authority need to ensure that sanitation in the area was upheld and that noxious effluents were not indiscriminately discharged into the Volta Estuary. A survey of the Volta estuary by Biney (1983) identified domestic plastics and oil originating from tanker traffic along the Gulf of Guinea as the main pollutants of the beach of the estuary. Physico-chemical studies conducted on estuaries by Biney (1982) and lagoons by Biney (1990) in Ghana also indicated that the quality of these waters is affected by the transfer of solutes from the ocean and the influx of fresh water.

2.4 Water Quality and aquatic life of lagoons and estuaries

Aquatic organisms are dependent on certain temperature ranges for optimal health. Temperature in aquatic environments is an important factor that influences the amount of oxygen that can be dissolved in the water, the rate of photosynthesis by algae and aquatic plants, the metabolic rate of organisms and the sensitivity of organisms to toxic waste, parasites, pollution and diseases (Hoover, 2007). According to Gilman *et al.* (2008), global climate change which is resulting into an increase of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere can be expected to alter significantly the temperatures and thermal structure of rivers, streams, lakes, oceans in association with the distribution and wellbeing of fish species, population and assemblages. Recent studies have shown that brackish water systems have substantially different trophic structure and dynamics (Meerhoff *et al.*, 2007; Brucet et al., 2010).

According to Blanck and Lamouroux, (2007) and Jeppesen *et al.* (2010), the higher temperature at lower latitudes is connected with a shift to a

fish community dominated by omnivorous fish, with higher specific metabolic and excretion rates, more frequent and earlier reproduction and smaller sizes than at higher latitudes. Some fish species can live in a water body with temperature smaller than 0.1°C (Mereta, 2013) every fish species has its characteristic which help to acclimatize to optimum water temperature range and temperature tolerance limits which might change seasonally in a given stock and can be slightly different from one stock to another of the same species (Salin *et al.*, 2016).

According to Hester and Doyle (2011), the thermal niche of a fish can be describes as a range of preferred temperature 4°C to 10°C with a midpoint of about 10°C to 15°C for cold water fishes, 20°C to 25°C for cool-water fishes and 25°C to 30°C for warm water fisheries. Peterson et al. (1999) have demonstrated that there is the potential for fluctuations and spatial variability in salinity to cause significant variability in the short-term growth rates of at least one species in nursery areas. Temperature would have negative effects on the productivity in coastal water bodies such as the lagoons and estuaries where an increase in salinity may result in killing of young individuals (EPA, 2008). The change in climate contributing to high temperature predicted changes in the abundance, distribution and species composition of fish populations, as well as the collapse of other fish species, although expansion of others is also possible (IPCC, 2001). The perceived effects of high temperature resulting from climate change may increase in the future (IPCC, 2003), consequently the identity and organization of biological systems needs to be recognized. Salinity has been recognized as the main factor that influences the occurrence and the composition of species in the habitats of coastal water bodies in the tropics and subtropics (Little *et al.*, 1988; in Blay, 1997). This is because species differ in salinity tolerance. This factor might contribute to the presence or absence of some fish species in both the estuary and the lagoon despite the closeness of the two systems.

Blaber and Cyrus (1981) observed that in the coastal lake of South Africa, the changes in the fish fauna in response to gradual changes in salinity were a reduction in the diversity of marine species and an increase in numbers of individuals of a few freshwater species. Lugendo et al. (2007a) investigated the spatial and temporal variation in fish community structure of a marine embayment in Zanzibar, Tanzania and identified that Long-term salinity variations may also affect the distribution and occurrence of fish species in estuaries. Lugendo et al. (2006) found that fish species in mangrove coastal waters decreased during the rainy season which has decreased salinity, visibility and temperature. In various studies, catch rates of the most abundant species were most strongly correlated with long-term (months and years) salinity patterns (Barletta et al., 2005). In the coastal lake Nhlange, part of the Kosi system of northern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, the changes in the fish fauna in response to gradual changes in salinity were a reduction in the diversity of marine species and an increase in numbers of individuals of a few freshwater species (Blaber & Cyrus, 1981). Nevertheless, even at salinities of 1 ppt or less the system still contained 23 estuarine or marine species. There is evidence that trophic structure changes along with salinity gradient (Burks et al., 2002; Brucet et al., 2009). Probably, eutrophic brackish water bodies resemble warm freshwater lakes in that they are often turbid and the biomass of zooplankton is lower than in cold freshwater lakes Burks et al., 2002;

Jensen *et al.*, 2010). This has been accredited to a salinity-induced increase in the predation on large-bodied zooplankton and the loss of keystone species such as Dalphnia, leading to dominance of smaller and less efficient grazer species (Jeppesen *et al.*, 2007; Schallenberg *et al.*, 2003).

The effects salinity community of of on the structure macroinvertebrates are, however, less clear. At salinity ranges from 1 to 3, macroinvertebrate assemblages exhibit reduced species richness and abundance and a change in species composition (Piscart et al., 2005; Boix et al., 2007). Some studies have shown that Crustacea are the most salinity tolerant of the major invertebrate taxon groups (Kefford et al., 2003) whereas Ephemeroptera are among the least tolerant invertebrates (Williams et al., 1990; Hart et al., 1991). With climate warming, changes in the trophic structure and biodiversity of shallow lakes as a combined effect of increased temperature and salinity, the latter particularly in arid, semiarid and coastal areas (Brucet et al., 2009). An increased strength of trophic interactions, not least predation, with warming has also been suggested (Brucet et al., 2010; Schemske et al., 2009).

2.5 Diel shifts of fish community

Fish living in coastal waters presents behavior patterns that are being ruled in particular by the day-night cycle (Potts, 1990), where the temperature and solar radiation changes influences feeding, and metabolic activities as well as behavioral responses which include protection from predators. These behaviors allow the species to be characterized as diurnal or nocturnal through observation of higher activity or rest periods searching for shelter (Hobson, 1965). Paterson and Whitfield (2000) investigated if shallow-water habitats function as refuge for juvenile fishes and identified that at night, fish leaves their shelters more frequently and this could explain the higher captures in shallow waters during this period, although the benefit of net avoidance in daylight by several species (Horn, 1980).

Many fish species also undergo daily migration either to their feeding or spawning grounds (Meyer & Koster, 2000); many studies have found higher densities of crustaceans in seagrass than in surrounding habitat. H. clupeola and A. tricolor were significantly more numerous during the day (Oliveira-Neto et al., 2004). Probably, shoaling behaviour allowed them to occur in daylight since in this formation they are protected from visual predators, such as adult fish or shore birds (Nagelkerken, 2007) confirmed that Haemulidae and Lutjanidae species migrate to seagrass at night to feed on invertebrates. The lack of diel correspondence with species description agrees with other studies (Morrison et al., 2002; Pessanha & Araújo, 2003), which showed no occurrence of strong changes in fish assemblage composition between daylight and night period. Gibson et al. (1996) investigated temporal changes in fish distribution and concluded that although significantly more species were caught at night overall the difference was slight and the major changes in assemblage structure observed were caused by the changing abundance of particular species rather than by their presence or absence. Verweij et al. (2006) found that Haemulon flavolineatum juveniles use coastal water bodies during the day for shelter.

Nagelkerken *et al.* (2000a) studied day-night shifts of fishes between shallow water biotopes of a Caribbean bay, with emphasis on the nocturnal feeding of Haemulidae and Lutjanidae and recorded that diurnally active

21

species such as Acanthuridae, Sparidae, Scaridae and Pomacentridae feed during the day and migrate daily to shelter at night. Oliveira-Neto et al. (2004) identified that daily migration is most likely in response to food availability, prey activity and predation risk. Romer (1990) investigated Surf zone fish community and species response to a wave energy gradient and came to a similar conclusion for a surf zone fish community in South Africa. There was no evidence of a difference between the 2 months in this respect in contrast to the finding by Nash (1986); although some species were found only during the day or at night, with one exception (Melanogrammus aeglefinus) they were all rare and their absence at a particular time of day could be attributed to chances. Nash (1986) and Gibson, (1994) concluded that community structure variation is strongly influenced by the dominant species peculiarities and as a consequence, failed to find a clear periodic pattern. Diel variation in behavior of commercial fishes have received a little attention and is a well known problem in fishery assessment programmes (Gaelzer1 & Zalmon, 2008; Félix-Hackradt et al., 2010). Again, differences between diurnal and nocturnal samples might also result from the higher visibility of the net during the day, a factor that could reduce its efficiency (Horn, 1980). Likewise, very translucent waters would decrease the efficiency of the capture nets because of their visibility to the fish (Hoese, 1973). For instance, species that occupy demersal environments are adapted to low light conditions, and this is a factor that may attribute why the occurrence of fish population in shallow environments usually occurs at night. To be able to reduce the variability in assessment caused by diel behavior patterns, there must be information on how to balance day and night catches (Pitt et al., 1981). Studies of fish assemblages in coastal

water bodies can provide not only information of the temporal structure of populations on both seasonal and diel basis, but also of the life-history phases that occupy the habitats.

2.6 Food habits and trophic relationships of fish communities

According to Warburton and Blaber, (1992); Ley et al. (1999); Crabtree and Stevens, (1998) several studies have investigated trophic linkages in temperate estuarine systems, few have empirically examined these relationships in tropical and subtropical estuaries. Again Wallace and Fletcher (1996) mentioned that information on the food habits of the different age groups in a fish stock is vital for the assessment of the fish stock as it defines the trophic requirements of the various developmental stages. In order to interpret the function of an ecosystem habitat and to analyze food webs, it is necessary to consider prey availability since food type and its availability is of higher importance for the success of recruitment of fish species (Elliott et al., 2002). It is also an important requirement for the ECOPATH model (Christensen & Pauly, 1992) used in elucidating aquatic ecosystem functioning and generating critical biological information for fisheries management (Mendoza, 1993; Silva et al., 1993). Several studies on the food and feeding habits of grey mullet have been carried out by different inverstiggators Angell, (1973); Bruthet, (1975); Das, (1980); Zarka, (1970) and Ermen, (1961) on Mugil curema, Mugil cephalus, Liza tade, Mugil saliens and Mugil chelo respectively. Diatom is the favorite food of Mugil cephalus, which can be compared with the observation shown by Bruthet (1975). Bruthet (1975) reported that the greatest abundance of diatoms were about 48% in all the stomachs examined. In Ghana, the food and feeding habits of some few
marine species of economic importance have been studied. According to Blay (1995a and b) food and feeding habits of four species of juvenile mullets (Liza falcipinnis, L. dumerilii, Mugil bananensis, and M. curema) in the Elmina lagoon was assessed and observed that though all four species were diurnal feeders their feeding times differed. Blay and Eyeson (1982) studied the feeding activity and food habits of the shad Ethmalosa fimbriata in the coastal waters of Cape Coast. Rangaswamy (1973) who reported that in marine environment the gut content of Mugil cephalus contains 26.72% algae and 22.76% diatoms Food preference of two coastal marine fishes, Galeoides decadactylus (Polynemidae) and Sphyraena sphyraena (Sphyraenidae) off Cape Coast Ghana were assessed by Aggrey-fynn et al. (2013). The existing gaps between the studies cited basically force knowledge on the foraging ecology and population dynamics of juvenile marine fishes of the brackishwater systems in Ghana, which is a very relevant to inform, promote and to help shape lagoon and estuary management and for conservation purpose. Without knowledge for better understanding of dietary relationships among organisms, community structure and population interactions are difficult to deduce. Polis and Winemiller (1996) reported that, food web approach can be valuable in the study of natural communities. Since many tropical and subtropical estuaries are numerically dominated by juvenile fishes the trophic role of these life stages is especially important (Arrivillaga & Baltz, 1999). Currently, there have been few studies comparing the ecological status of fish communities in lagoons and estuaries in Ghana. Therefore the purpose of this study is to assess the diet and feeding habits of juvenile marine fishes as part of the process of gathering baseline information for a detailed

investigation of the trophic structure of fish communities in the Gulf of Guinea ecosystem. The present study seeks to investigate the feeding pattern and the daily feeding cycle of the juvenile fishes of Kakum river estuaries and Benya lagoons in Ghana to highlight issues of ecological concern and also to encourage management interventions.

In lagoon and estuary ecosystems, density of juveniles has been intensively used for the assessment of recruitment, survival and mortality. This is because they serve as an important indicator of the nursery value of these habitats and again juveniles' response to changes in the aquatic ecosystem health. Assessment of feeding habit will be important for several convincing reasons. In order to interpret the function of an ecosystem habitat and to analyze food webs, it is necessary to consider prey availability since food type and its availability is of higher importance for the success of recruitment of fish species (Elliott et al., 2002). In the marine ecosystem many juvenile fish species spend some time in shallow coastal waters to feed and grow to subadults stage before migrating into deeper waters. Recruitment of these juveniles into the fishery depends mostly on their rate of survival in the shallow coastal waters. Investigation on the feeding regime of fish may therefore help to identify habitats that serve as nursery ground and support the recruitment process of different fish species and stock. Information on the food habits of fish stock is essential for assessing the stock (Wallace & Fletcher, 1996) since it defines the trophic requirements of the various developmental stages of fish stock.

25

Investigating diets and feeding patterns of fish communities can contribute to an understanding of ecological interactions and community structure Nagelkerken et al., (2006); Layman et al., (2007). Dietary ecology and feeding habits can be explored by quantifying variation in resource use, feeding intensity and trophic niche breadth. Individuals are predicted to shift resource use in response to food availability in the environment (Barreiros et al., 2002). Furthermore, Miracle et al. (2006) found that fish effect depends strongly on the diet of the species involved. As for zooplankton, the decrease in the abundance of plant-associated macroinvertebrate grazers at higher temperatures may have implications for the ecological status of lakes since it may enhance periphyton growth and indirectly promote the turbid water state by outshading macrophytes (Phillips et al., 1978). In addition, potentially higher predation by small fish within the plants beds may influence the spatial distribution and diel movements of macroinvertebrates. Thus, zooplanktons have been shown to migrate to deeper layers or into submerged plants during the day as a result of the tradeoffs between predation risk, food availability and oxygen concentration (Burks et al., 2002).

Optimal foraging theory predicts that dietary niche breadth of a population should expand as preferred food resources become scarce (Emlen, 1966; Schoener, 1971; Rodel *et al.*, 2004). Bolnick *et al.* (2002) conducted ecological studies by measuring individual-level of resource spercialization and recorded that topical advances in niche theory predict that the dietary niche breadth of a population can expand in differing ways. According to Araújo and Gonzaga, (2007) and Araújo *et al.* (2007) every individual in the population may use a broader array of resources or there can be greater

individual specialization. Studies on the variety of taxa have found interindividual diet variation, which has been shown in some cases to comprise the majority of the population's niche width (Hammerschlag et al., 2010). Bolnick et al. (2003) Investigating diets and feeding patterns of fish communities can contribute to an understanding of ecological interactions and community structure. Tyler (1971) studied monthly changes in stomach contents of demersal fishes in Passamaquoddy Bay and mentioned that in fishes, feeding intensity is thought to decrease at lower temperatures due to lower metabolic demands. Hammerschlag et al. (2010) mentioned that dietary ecology and feeding habits can be explored by quantifying variation in resource use, feeding intensity and trophic niche breadth. Individuals are predicted to shift resource use in response to food availability in the environment (Nagelkerken et al., 2006). Trophic niche breadth is influenced by a variety of factors, which includs food diversity and intraspecific competition (Svanback and Bolnick, 2005; Layman et al., 2007). Intertidal areas of the coastal water bodies, fishes migrate at high tide purposely to feed (Sheaves & Molony, 2000; Lugendo et al., 2006). Accordind to Nagelkerken et al., (2000b) both the quantity and types of food may differ between coastal waters and adjacent waters; many of the foods available in sheltered coastal waters are rare or absent in offshore waters, particularly flora, microfauna and detritus as well as aquatic macrophytes and their epifauna and flora. Blaber and Blaber (1980) identified that the presence of mangroves in tropical estuaries increases the diversity and quantity of food available to juvenile fishes in coastal water bodies, and Robertson and Duke (1990a) have also shown highly significant differences in the densities of juvenile fishes between coastal waters and other nearshore

habitats when they are immediately adjacent to each other. According to Nagelkerken et al. (2000a) fishes mainly shelter themselves in the coastal water bodies during daytime and feed on adjacent seagrass beds at night. Nevertheless, opportunistic feeding takes place while they shelter in mangroves during daytime (Nagelkerken & van der Velde, 2004b; Verweij et al., 2006). Dankwa et al., (1999) reported the main constituents of the diet of A. spilauchen in the pools were debris, insect larvae and adult insects, with copepods representing a very small proportion of the food. Emmanuel et al. (2010) showed that G. decadactylus found off Nigerian coast feeds on a variety of crustaceans and molluscs. The food of S. melanotheron in the wetland did not differ from that of populations in the Sakumo Lagoon in Ghana (Ofori-Danson & Kumi, 2006) and Eleiyele reservoir (Ayoade and Ikulala, 2007) and Awba Reservoir (Ugwumba & Adebisi, 1992) in Nigeria, except that these populations fed on a wider range of algae and zooplankton. Gaughan and Mitchell (2000) mentioned the importance of "marine snow", with its organic content and associated microorganisms, has been noted in the diet of many pelagic species. Dankwa et al. (2005) similarly confirmed that the grey mullet L. falcipinnis in Benya lagoon in Ghana and River Pra and River Volta estuaries also in Ghana fed on similar food items. Carpenter and Nkem, (2001); Barreiros et al., (2002); Porter and Motta, (2004); Hosseini et al., (2009) reported that S. sphyraena feeds mainly consumed fish. Okyere et al. (2011b) stated that lagoon and estuarine populations ingested a broader spectrum of food items including red algae, molluscan larvae, polychaetes and nematodes, therefore, the relatively narrow spectrum of food eaten by the fish encountered suggests the unavailability of a number of their dietary items in

the wetland. T. zillii preferably fed mainly on plant materials and debris which confirm their macrophagous food habits (Dankwa et al., 1999) while H. fasciatus preyed on variety of items, from larvae and adult of insects to shrimps and fish fry, which confirms their minor-piscivorous feeding habit. Barreiros et al. (2002) discussed the feeding habit of S. sphyraena in Azores Island and found that the diet constituted 82.2% of Blue Jack mackerel, Trachurus picturatus. The preference of each grey mullet species examined in the estuary and the lagoon for a particular particle size was a way of partitioning the resource to avoid interspecific competition, thus ensuring their coexistence. This is in agreement with Nilson (1967), who reported that when two closely-related species coexist in one environment, various mechanisms may occur which permit this coexistence. Apart from detritus, an annual average of the diet composition shows the zooplankton-phytoplankton ratio in the food as 3: 2 (Stergiou & Karpouzi, 2002); similar feeding habits have been reported for round sardinella in northeastern Mediterranean. Hosseini et al. (2009) also found the main food of S. sphyraena in Bushehr Province waters to be two types of fishes, Liza subviridis and Tenualoza illisia. Comparatively, (Ugwumba & Adebisi, 1992) recorded that the food consumed by the populations of *H. fasciatus* in Tarkwa bay and the Lagos lagoon in Nigeria consisted principally of fish. Barreiros et al. (2002) on the diet composition and feeding habit of demersal fishes in Terengganu suggested that members of the genus Sphyraena are fish eaters. The differences in the variety of prey consumed by the wetland population and those in Nigeria could be related to the availability, abundance and diversity of potential prey in their respective environments. Fishes of the family Eleotridae and Gobiidae are generally

known to be carnivores (Dankwa *et al.*, 1999) and this predatory habit manifested in their diet in the wetland. Okyere *et al.* (2011a) reported that *K. kribensis* and *P. schlegelii* exploited copepods, oligochaetes and debris, chironomid larvae and fish scales.

Layman et al. (2007) and Svanback and Bolnick, (2005) identified that trophic niche breadth is influenced by a variety of factors, including food diversity and intraspecific competition. Tyler (1971) investigate monthly changes in stomach contents of demersal fishes in Passamaquoddy Bay and recorded that in fishes, feeding intensity is thought to decrease at lower temperatures due to lower metabolic demands. According to Bolnick et al., (2003) number of studies have investigated fish feeding patterns and trophic dynamics in tropical and subtropical marine environments. Most quantitative trophic studies involving fishes in which systems grouped diet data across seasons or did not investigate whether seasonal diet patterns existed (Nagelkerken & van der Velde, 2004; Nagelkerken et al., 2006). However, studies from mostly temperate marine and tropical freshwater systems have shown that seasonal changes in resource availability and environmental conditions influence fish feeding patterns (Hammerschlag et al., 2010). Bolnick et al. (2003) mentioned that, despite the few studies examining seasonal variation in the diets of fish populations inhabiting subtropical marine systems; little is known about between individual variations in resource use within populations. According to Bolnick et al. (2002, and 2003), this individual level variation is called individual specialization and refers to individuals whose dietary niche is significantly narrower than that of the population.

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study area

The study was conducted in the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon (Fig. 1) in the Central Region of Ghana. The Kakum River Estuary (1° 19' W, 5° 05' N) is located near Elmina and about 5 km West of Cape Coast (the regional capital). The estuary is formed by a twin river system, the Kakum River and the Sweet River, fringed by a mangrove system which are pristine in some areas and highly degraded in other areas. The inhabitants of the fringing communities depend on the estuary and the lagoon as a source of fish and water for domestic use.

Benya lagoon is located at Elmina (1° 23' W, 5° 05' N), it is an open lagoon. The lagoon lies to the west of Cape Coast in the Central Region of Ghana and is approximately 3 km from the Kakum River Estuary.



Figure 1: Map of Ghana and plate showing the location of Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon

3.2 Diel measurements of temperature and salinity

Measurements of temperature and salinity were taken on each sampling date from November 2016 to April 2017 at 06:00, 10:00, 14:00, 18:00, 22:00, 02:00 and 06:00. Surface temperature and salinity were measured simultaneously using a HANNA multiparameter probe. Three replicates of each parameter were taken at different points of the water body during sampling and the average value was calculated.

3.3 Diel fish sampling and data collection

The fish from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon were sampled at the same time temperature and salinity were taken. Sampling was done within thirty (30) minutes on all sampling occasions. The fishes caught were preserved in 10% formalin immediately after capture to avoid post-mortem digestion of stomach contents. In the laboratory, fish were sorted into freshwater, brackish water and marine species and identified to their family and species level using fish identification manuals (Schneider, 1990; Kwei and Ofori-Adu, 2005). Individuals were measured for total length (TL, cm) and body weight (BW, g) to the nearest 0.1 cm and 0.01 g respectively. The biomass (wet weight), number of species and total number of marine fish caught during each sampling time were recorded to investigate their fluctuations. Stomach of each fish was examined and the various food items consumed were sorted and identified using (Newell and Newell 1963; Gibbons 1997).

3.4 Determination of length-weight relationship

The length of each species was obtained by pooling the six (6) months data. The length and weight of the species were plotted as scatter diagrams and

a regression of the logarithmetic transformation data was carried out to obtain the regression equation. InBw = Ina+bInTL

All relationships were described by the equation:

 $BW = aTL^b$

where *BW* is the weight (g), *TL* is the total length in cm, 'a' is the intercept and 'b' is the slope. The parameters a and b were estimated by:

InBW = InBW + b InTL

The 95% confidence limits for *b* (CL 95%) were calculated using the equation: $CL = b \pm (1.96 \text{ x SE})$ where SE is the standard error of *b*. Values of the exponent *b* provide biological information on kind/pattern of growth of fish. The growth is isometric if *b* = 3 and the growth is allometric if *b* \neq 3 (negatively allometric if *b* < 3 and positively allometric if *b* > 3). The Student's t-test was conducted as expressed by the equation according to Sokal and Rohlf (1987) to check if the value of *b* is significantly different from 3. The Student's t-test was calculated for the equation:

 $t_{s} = (b-3) / SE$

All the statistical analyses were considered at significance level of 5%.

3.5 Determination of marine fish species composition

The percentage composition of each fish species was determined as the number of each species, divided by the total number of fish caught and the resulting value expressed as a percentage.

3.6 Calculation of ecological diversity indices

The composition and structure of each brackish water community were determined using the Shannon-Weiner function (Molles, 1999) calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{H'} = -\sum_{i=1}^{s} P_i (lnP_i)$$

where P_i is the proportion of individuals belonging to species *i* in the community.

The evenness component of diversity was calculated from Pielou's index (Pielou, 1966) as follows:

$$J' = \frac{H'}{H_{max}}$$

where $H_{\text{max}} = \ln s$.

Margalef's richness index (Krebs, 1999) was estimated as:

$$d = \frac{(S-1)}{InN}$$

where S is the number of species and N is the total number of individuals in the samples.

3.7 Determination of similarity between the fish communities

The degree of similarity between the marine fish communities in the Benya lagoon and Kakum estuary was determined by the Sorensen's coefficient (Southwood, 1978) given as:

$$C_s = \frac{2j}{a+b}$$

where C_s is Sorensen's index which ranges from 0 (dissimilar) to 1 (completely similar), *j* is the number of species common to the two water bodies, and *a* and *b* are the number of species occurring in either water body.

3.8 Stomach content analysis

Stomach contents were analysed by the frequency of occurrence method. The percentage frequency of a food item was determined as the number of stomachs containing the item expressed as a percentage of the total number of stomachs.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

4.1 Fish species occurrence in the two brackish waters

Fishes caught in the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon are listed in Table 1. In Kakum River Estuary, a total of 25 species belonging to 16 families were sampled while 24 species of fishes belonging to 16 families were sampled in Benya Lagoon.

While the brackish water species *Sarotherodon melanotheron* (Cichlidae) and *Aplocheilichthys spihauchen* (Cyprinodontidae) and the freshwater fish *T. zilli* (Cichlidae) occurred in both water bodies, the freshwater fish *P. leonensis* was found only in the Kakum River Estuary, and the remaining 23 species belonging to 15 families were of marine origin.

Table 1: Occurrence of marine and non marine species in Kakum RiverEstuary and Benya Lagoon (FW= fresh water, BW= brackish water), +present, - absent

FAMILY	SPECIES	KAKUM ESTUARY	BENYA LAGOON
Cichlidae	Sarotherodon melanotheron (BW)	+	+
	Tilapia zilli (FW)	+	+
Cyprinodontidae	Aplocheilichthys spilauchen (BW)	+	+
Clupeidae	Pellonulla leonensis (FW)	+	-
	Sardinella aurita	+	+
Bothidae	Citharichthys stamflii	+	+
Mugilidae	Liza falcipinnis	+	+
	Liza dumerillii	+	+
	Mugil bananensis	+	+
	Mugil curema	+	+
	Mugil cephalus	+	+
Lutjanidae	Lutjanus fulgens	+	+
	Lutjanus goreensis	+	+
	Lutjanus agennes	+	+
Gobiidae	Bothygobius soporator	+	+
	Porogobius schlegelii	+	+
Carangidae	Caranx hippos	+	+
Sciaenidae	Pseudotolithus typus	+	-
	Pseudotolithus senegalensis	-	+
Elopidae	Elops lacerta	+	+
Gerreidae	Eucinostomus melanopterus	+	+
Serranidae	Epinephelus aeneus	+	+
Ariidae	Arius gigas	+	+
Haemulidae	Plectorhynchus macrolepis	+	+
Acanthuridae	Acanthurus monroviae	+	+
Scombridae	Scomberomorus tritor	+	-
Cynoglossidae	Cynoglossus canariensis	-	+
Total number of 1	16	16	
Total number of s	25	24	

4.2 Percentage composition of marine species in the two water bodies

The composition of marine species in Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon is represented in Figure 2. In Kakum River Estuary, the grey mullet *M. curema* was the most abundant fish with compositions of 18.50% while the other grey mullets *M. bananensis, L. dumerilli* and *L. falcipinnis* made up 12.95%, 13.10%, and 9.40%, respectively. *M. cephalus* was the least species representing 0.65% in the estuary. *Caranx hippos* were the third most common fish with compositions of 12.88%. The remaining species had composition of less than 10%.

In Benya lagoon, the grey mullet *M. bananensis* was the most abundant fish with a composition of 41.5% while the other grey mullets, *M. curema* and *Liza falcipinnis* made up to 21.10% and 12.06%, respectively. The remaining species had compositions of less than 10%.



Figure 2: Percentage composition of marine fish species in Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon

4.3 Size range and modal size of marine fish species in the two water

bodies

The size range and the modal class of the marine species in the estuary and the lagoon are presented in Table 2. A total of 1,327 fish were sampled from the estuary. The species in the estuasry measured 2.2 cm in *L. dumerilii* to 29.8 cm in *M. curema*. The modal length of the commonest species *L. falcipinnis*, *L. dumerilli*, *M. bananensis*, *M. curema*, *E. melanopterus* and *C. hippos* were 11-11.9, 8-8.9, 7-7.9, 8-8.9, 8-8.9 and 4-4.9 cm respectively. A total of 2,226 fish were sampled from the lagoon. The species in the Lagoon measured 3.2 cm in *L. goreensis* to 22.4 cm in *M. bananensis*. The modal length of the commonest species *L. falcipinnis*, *M. bananensis*, *M. curema*, *E. melanopterus* and *S. aurita* were 10-10.9, 7-7.9, 7-7.9, 6-6.9 and 7-7.9 cm respectively.

FAMILY	SPECIES	ŀ	Kakum River Esti	Estuary		Benya Lagoon	
		No.	Size Range (TL cm)	Modal Size (cm)	No.	Size range (TL cm)	Modal Size (cm)
Clupeidae	Sardinella aurita	39	7.1 - 17.6	8-8.9	191	5.9 - 10.5	7-7.9
Mugilidae	Liza falcipinnis	127	5.1 - 16.6	11-11.9	268	5.3 - 14.3	10-10.9
	Liza dumerilli	177	2.2 - 20.9	8-8.9	45	5.3 - 19.7	9-9.9
	Mugil bananensis	175	4.4 - 15.5	7-7.9	924	5.3 - 22.4	7-7.9
	Mugil curema	250	4 - 29.8	8-8.9	469	6.1 - 16.7	7-7.9
	Mugil cephalus	9	9.6 - 12.4	10-10.9	21	8.1 - 10.7	7-7.9
Lutjanidae	Lutjanus fulgens Lutjanus goreensis	34 49	5.1 - 16 5.1 - 15.8	6-6.9 5-5.9	36 61	4 - 9.4 3.2 - 10.5	8-8.9 5-5.9
Gobiidae	Lutjanus agennes Bothygobius soporator	36 32	6.2 - 26.6 4.1 - 12.4	6-6.7 7-7.9	13 26	5.4 - 8.5 6.5 - 13	6-6.9 10-10.9
	Porogobius schlegeli	-	-	-	16	7.9 - 12.8	10-10.9
Bothidae	Citharichthys stampflii	69	4.3 - 15.3	7-7.9	8	4.1 - 8.9	8-8.9
Carangidae	Caranx hippos	174	3.4 - 14.4	4-4.9	30	4 - 13.7	11-11.9
Sciaenidae	Pseudotolithus typus	1	9.3	-	-	-	-
	Pseudotolithus senegalensis	-	-	-	1	9.3	-
Elopidae	Elops lacerta	3	9.6-10.2	9-9.9	1	9.8	-
Gerreidae	Eucinostomus	109	4.6 - 18.5	8-8.9	117	4.9 - 10.7	6-6.9

Table 2: The size range of marine species in Benya lagoon and Kakum river estuary

	melanopterus						
Serranidae	Epinephelus aeneus	1	8.4	-	5	6.9 - 8.2	7-7.9
Ariidae	Arius gigas	20	7.9 - 21.8	9-9.9	1	8.4	-
Haemulidae	Plectorhynchus macrolepis	2	4.9 - 7.6	-	2	4.5	-
Acanthuridae	Acanthurus monroviae	11	5.2 - 11.5	5-5.9	1	4.7	-
Scombridae	Scomberomorus tritor	1	5.0	-	-	-	-
Cynoglossidae	Cynoglossus canariensis	-	-	-	1	6.0	-
otal number of individuals		1,321			2,237		

Table 2 continued

4.4 Length-weight relationship of abundant species

Kakum River Estuary

A strong correlation (r = 0.84 to 0.97) was determined for the lengthweight relationships of the nine species examined in the estuary (Table. 3). The regression coefficient *b* was significantly lower than the hypothetical value of 3.0 for the *L. dumerilli, C. hippos* and *M. bananensis* stock in the estuary indicating that the species exhibited negative allometric growth.

The coefficient *b* was significantly higher than 3.0 for *E. melanopterus* and *S. aurita* indicating that the species are growing isometrically but in *L.* falcipinnis, and *M. curema, L. fulgens, L. goreensis,* the regression coefficient *b* was significantly closer to the hypothetical value of 3.0 stock in the estuary indicating that the species are growing isometrically.

Table 3: The length-weight relationships of 9 abundant fish speciescollected from the Kakum River Estuary.

Fish species	No	a	b	r
Liza dumerilli	167	0.04	2.38±0.08	0.84
Liza falcipinnis	127	0.02	2.72±0.14	0.93
Mugil bananensis	175	0.03	2.48 ± 0.14	0.92
Mugil curema	250	0.02	2.72±0.18	0.78
Sardinella aurita	39	0.01	3.07±0.21	0.96
Eucinostomus melanopterus	109	0.01	3.10±0.10	0.97
Lutjanus fulgens	34	0.02	2.97 ± 0.20	0.96
Lutjanus goreensis	49	0.02	2.85 ± 0.22	0.96
Caranx hippos	174	0.03	2.53±0.11	0.91

Note: a, intercept; b, slope; r, Correlation coefficient

Benya lagoon

The length-weight relationship for the commonest species in Benya lagoon (Table 4) showed strong correlations ranging from 0.78 to 0.97. The regression coefficient b was significantly higher to the hypothetical value of

3.0 for the *E. melanopterus* stock in the Benya Lagoon indicating that the species is growing isometrically. The regression coefficient *b* was significantly closer to the hypothetical value of 3.0 for the *L. fulgens, L. goreensis, L. dumerilli, L. falcipinnis, M. bananensis, M. curema, S. aurita, and C. hippos* stock in the Benya Lagoon indicating that the species are growing isometrically

Table 4: The length-weight relationships of 9 abundant fish speciescollected from the Benya Lagoon.

No	a	b	r
45	0.01	2.83±0.10	0.98
268	0.02	2.75 ± 0.06	0.96
924	0.02	2.69 ± 0.06	0.93
469	0.02	2.61±0.01	0.88
191	0.01	2.95±0.12	0.92
117	0.01	3.04±0.20	0.91
36	0.02	2.76±0.17	0.98
61	0.02	2.84±0.11	0.97
30	0.01	2.97±0.10	0.99
	45 268 924 469 191 117 36 61	45 0.01 268 0.02 924 0.02 469 0.02 191 0.01 117 0.01 36 0.02 61 0.02	45 0.01 2.83±0.10 268 0.02 2.75±0.06 924 0.02 2.69±0.06 469 0.02 2.61±0.01 191 0.01 2.95±0.12 117 0.01 3.04±0.20 36 0.02 2.76±0.17 61 0.02 2.84±0.11

Note: a, intercept; b, slope; r, Correlation coefficient

4.5 Diversity of marine fish species

The diversity indices for Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon are shown in Table 5. The values suggest higher species richness and diversity in Kakum River Estuary than Benya Lagoon. The distribution of the number of individuals among the various species was more even in Kakum River Estuary than Benya Lagoon.

Table 5: Richness diversity and evenness indices for the fish communitiesof the two water bodies

Water Body	No. of species	Richness (d)	Diversity (H')	Evenness (j)
Kakum River Estuary	25	3.34	2.05	0.65
Benya Lagoon	24	2.98	1.55	0.49

4.6 Similarity between the estuarine and lagoon marine fish communities

The Sorensen's index of similality (Cs) was calculated to be 0.89 which shows that the two communities of marine fish nursing in the estuary and the lagoon were very similar.

4.7 Diel fluctuations in number of marine species, abundance and biomass of fish

Kakum River Estuary

The number of species caught at different times from the estuary varied from 4 to 11 during the six (6) month study period (Fig. 3a). A diel cycle in number of species occurred on 16/11/2016 with low number of species during the day increasing to a peak at 22:00 hours. Two peaks in number of species were recorded at 14:00 and 02:00 on 10/12/2016 and at 10:00 and 22:00 on 12/01/2017. There were no clear patterns in the fluctuations on the remaning dates.

Fish abundance at the different sampling times (Fig. 3b) was clearly higher on 10/12/16 than the other sampling dates, ranging from a mean of 41 fishes to a mean of 90 fishes. Abundance was higher at 22:00 hours and 2:00 hours and lower at 6: 00 at the start of the sampling. On 10/11/16, fish numbers ranged from 14 at 6: 00 to a peak of 46 at 22: 00. On 15/02/2017, the

peak fish number was recorded at 22:00. On 20/04/2017 the peak fish number was recorded at 14:00 hours.

The total biomass varied considerably from a mean of 87.31 in the day at 6:00 hours to a peak of 1,067.57 during the night at 22:00 on 16/11/2016. Low biomass was obtained from a mean of 226.06 during the day at 6:00 and reached a peak of 1,067.57 during the night at 22:00 on 10/12/2016. On 12/01/2017, biomass of fish was low from 152.15 in the day at 6:00 to a peak of 839.55 during the night cycle at 2:00 (Fig. 3c). There were no clear patterns in the fluctuations on the remaning dates.



Figure 3: Diel fluctuations in the (a) number of species, (b) abundance and (c) biomass (wet weight) of fish caught from Kakum River Estuary

Benya lagoon

The number of species caught on 20/11/2016 varied from 4 at 6:00 hours at the start of the sampling to a peak of 10 at 14:00 hours. The number fluctuates between 1 and 6 for the rest of the period. On 25/04/2017, number of species varied from 3 at 6:00 hours at the beginning of sampling to a peak of 14 at 22:00 hours. No clear patterns were visible on the other sampling dates (Fig. 4a).

Likewise there was considerable variation in the total number of individuals caught per time period with low number from 14 at 6:00 and reached a peak of 91 at 14:00 during the day on 20/11/2016. On 20/12/2016, lower number of fish was caught from 23 at 6:00 to a peak of 107 at 18:00 during the day and a lower number of fish were caught on 15/01/2017 from 57 at 6:00 to a peak of 93 at 10:00 during the day (Fig. 4b). There were no clear patterns in the fluctuations on the remaning dates.

The total biomass varied considerably from a mean of 76.48 at 6:00 and reached a peak of 718.4 mean at 14:00 during the day on 20/11/2016. On 20/12/2016, low biomass was obtained from a mean of 158.96 at 6:00 during the day cycle to a peak of 617.28 mean at night 22:00 hours. Low biomass of fish was recorded from a mean of 296.48 during the day at 6:00 to a peak of 1222.28 mean during the night period at 22:00 on the 15/01/2017 (Fig. 4c). There were no clear patterns in the fluctuations on the remaning dates.



Figure 4: Diel fluctuations in the (a) number of species, (b) abundance and (c) biomass (wet weight) of fish caught from Benya Lagoon

4.8 Diel Variations in Temperature and Salinity

Kakum Estuary

Surface water temperature ranged from 26.2 °C to 36.2 °C at the different sampling times. The peak water temperature was recorded on 16/11/2016, 15/02/2017, 17/03/2017 and 20/04/2017 at 14:00 h measurements (Fig. 5a). There were no clear patterns in the fluctuations on the remaning dates. Temperature was highest on 17/03/2017 and low on 16/11/2016 through out the times of sampling

Salinity ranged from 2.1 ‰ to 30.3 ‰ at the different sampling times (Fig 5b). There was not much variation in salinity between 10/12/2016, 12/01/2017, 15/02/2017 and 17/03/2017 with exception of 16/11/2016 where high salinity of 16.57 ‰ was recorded at 2:00 hour and on 20/04/2017, where two peaks of salinity occurred at 10:00 and 22:00 hours with low salinity in the other sampling times.



Fig. 5: Diel Variation of (a) temperature and (b) salinity (Error bars: +/-1 SE) in the Kakum River Estuary (\leftrightarrow : dark period) on Nov 2016- April 2017

Benya Lagoon

Surface water temperature ranged from 24.6 °C to 32.9 °C at the different sampling dates. The peak water temperature of 32.9 °C and 32.8 °C was recorded on 20/11/16 and 25/04/2017 respectively at 14:00 hour measurements (Fig. 6a). The highest temperature was measured in 20/11/ 2016 and 25/04/2017 with the lowest temperature being measured on 15/01/17.

There were similar pattern in the fluctuations of temperature in all the months where high temperature occurred at 14:00 hour measurements with exception of 24/03/2017 where there was a drop in temperature from 29.8 °C at 10:00 to 26.2 °C at 14:00 hour and increased to 29.7 °C at 18:00 hours.

Salinity ranged from 27.8 % – 32.2 % during the study period. There was not clear pattern in the fluctuations of salinity between the different times of sampling. The peak salinity of 31.3 %, 31.6 % and 30.8 % was recorded on 15/01/2017, 22/02/2017 and 24/04/2017 respectively (Fig. 6b). The highest salinity was measured on 22/02/ 2017 at 6:00 hours at the start of the study with the lowest salinity on 24/03/2017 at 2:00.



Figure 6: Diel Variation of (a) temperature and (b) salinity (Error bars: +/-1 SE) in the Benya lagoon (\leftrightarrow : dark period) on Nov 2016- April 2017

4.9 Diel fluctuations in number and biomass of fish, and environmental

parameters (combined data)

Kakum River Estuary

Fish abundance of the combined data at different sampling times (Fig. 7a) was clearly higher at 22: 00 and 2: 00 hours and lower in the other sampling times, ranging from a mean of 24 fishes to a mean of 44 fishes.

Fish biomass (g) was higher at 22 hours and 2 hours (Fig. 7b) and lower in the other sampling times ranging from a mean of 150 g at 6:00 h from the beginning of sampling to a mean of 540 g at 22:00 h during the night. Combined data for the diel surface temperatures of the estuary (Fig. 7a) showed a clear diurnal cycle with a peak at 14:00 and low temperature in the other sampling times.

The salinity of the estuary (Fig. d) showed a clear diurnal cycle with a peak at 10:00 and 22:00 hours measurements.

There were similar pattern in the fluctuations of fish abundance, biomass and salinity at 18:00, 22:00, 2:00 and 6:00 hours where abundance, biomass and salinity increased to a peak at 22:00 and 2:00 hours and declined at 6:00 the next day (Fig. 7).



Figure 7: Mean (a) abundance and (b) biomass (wet weight) of fish caught, mean (c) temperature ($^{\circ}$ C) and (d) salinity of Kakum River Estuary (\leftrightarrow : dark period) from November 2016 – April 2017 (vertical bars denoted standard erro)

4.11 Diel fluctuations in number and biomass of fish, and environmental parameters (combined data)

Benya lagoon

The mean of the total number of fish caught in the lagoon over the diel period varied considerably from 45 during the day at 6:00 hour to a peak of 73 during the day at 14:00 hours and the mean biomass of fish caught from the lagoon varied from 230 during the day at 6:00 to a peak of 565 during the night at 22:00 hour (Fig. 8a).

Diel surface temperatures of the lagoon varied from 28.13 °C which continued to increase reaching a peak of 29.75 at 14:00 duriing the day with a decline in the remaining times (Fig. 8c)

The trend in salinity changes therefore did not suggest a diurnal fluctiation (Fig. 8d). The salinity of the lagoon was high from 6:00 at the start of sampling to 14:00hour measurments and gradualy decreased in the remaning sampling times.

Similar pattern occurred in the fluctuations of fish abundance, biomass and temperature at 6:00, 10:00 and 14:00 hours where abundance, biomass and temperature increased from 6:00 during the day to reach a peak at 14:00 hours and declined at 18:00 (Fig. 8).

53



Figure 8: Mean (a) abundance, (b) biomass (g) of fish caught, (c) temperature ($^{\circ}$ C) and (d) salinity (‰) of Benya Lagoon (\leftrightarrow : dark period) from November 2016 – April 2017 (vertical bars denoted standard erro)

4.12 Food Habits of Juvenile Marine Fishes

Mugilidae

Members of the family Mugilidae namely *Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumerillii, Mugil bananensis, Mugil cephalus* and *Mugil curema* consumed mainly diatoms, green algae, detritus, blue green algae, zooplankton and sand (Fig. 9). Apart from mollusk larvae that were found in the stomachs of *L. falcipinnis, L. dumerilli, M. bananensis,* and *M. curema* form Benya lagoon, fish flesh was found in the stomachs of *M. bananensis* and *M. cephalus* from the estuary and in the stomachs of *L. falcipinnis,* and *M. dumerillii* from Benya lagoon. Fish eggs were common only in the stomachs of *M. curema*. All the other food items were common in the stomachs of all the species from the two water bodies. Copepods were the dominant zooplankton in the diet of the Mugilidae from both the estuary and the lagoon.



Figure 9: Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomach of *Mugil* curema, Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumarilli, Mugil bananensis, and Mugli cephalus from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon

Carangidae

A total of 51 *Caranx hippos* from Kakum River Estuary and 23 from Benya lagoon were examined. This species from Kakum river estuary and Benya lagoon consumed nematodes, fish, shrimps and fish (Fig. 10). The most common item eaten by this species from the estuary were shrimps which occurred in about 68.63% and the least occurring food items nematodes (7.84%). *C. hippos* from Benya lagoon also consumed more on shrimps which occurred in 80.1% of the sstomachs examined and the least food iteams eaten were nematodes which occurred in 18.70% of the stomachs.



Figure 10: Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of *Caranx hippos* from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon

Clupeidae

Sixteen stomachs of *Sardinella aurita* from Kakum river estuary and 51 from Benya Lagoon were examined (Fig. 11). Copepods, protozoans, fish eggs, fish fry, diatoms, dinoflagellates, fish larvae and detritus were the food components recorded from the stomachs of this species from both estuary and the Lagoon. This species from the estuary and the lagoon preyed more on copepods which occurred in 78.57% of stomachs of the former and 82.69% of the latter. Dinoflagellates were the least common food items consumed by *Sardinella aurita* from the lagoon (9.62%) while in the estuary, they consumed 42.86% of the stomachs examined. Fish fry occurred in 36.81% *S. aurita* from the estuary but did not occur in the stomchs of this species from the lagoon. The other food item consumed by this species was detritus with an occurrence of 57.14% and 34.62% for the estuary and the lagoon respectively.



Figure 11: Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of *Sardinella aurita* from Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon

Lutjanidae

Fish of the family Lutjanidae namely *Lutjanus fulgens, Lutjanus goreensis and Lutjanus agennes* mainly consumed fish, shrimps, fish scale, crabs, fish egg, fish flesh, shrimp appendages and unidentified food items (Fig. 12). Apart from fish scales that were not found in *Lutjanus agennes* of the two water bodies, fish, shrimps, and crabs were common in the stomachs of all the species from the two water bodies. The dominant food item in the diet of *Lutjanus agennes* from the estuary was fish with an occurrence of 69% in stomachs examined. Fish and crabs were however the dominant food items in the stomachs of *L. goreensis* from the estuary. In the lagoon, fish scales and crabs were respectively the dominant food items in the diet of *L. fulgens*, and *L. goreensis*, occurred in 52% and 50% of the stomachs examined, *L. goreensis* fed on shrimps and fish scales with an occurrence of 40% of the



Figure 12: Frequency of occurrence of food items in the stomachs of *Lutjanus fulgens, Lutjanus goreensis* and *Lutjanus agnnens* from Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon
Gerreidae

Thirty one (31) specimens of *Eucinostomus melanopterus* from Kakum river estuary and thirty four (34) individuals from Benya lagoon were examined. The food items found in the stomachs of this species from both the estuary and the lagoon were copepods, annelids, fish larvae and and unidentified items (Fig. 13). This species from the estuary and the lagoon mostly preferred annelids which occurred in 58.06% and 61.76% of the stomachs followed by copepods which occurred in 48.39% and 44.12%, respectively. Fish larvae had percentage occurrence of 9.68% and 26.47% for both the estuary and the lagoon fish, respectively. Fish larvae and unidentified items had low frequencies in samples from the estuary and the lagoon.



Figure 13: Frequency of occurrence of food items found in the stomachs of *Eucinostomus melanopterus* from Kakum river estuary and Benya lagoon

Bothidae

Thirteen (13) specimens of *Citharichthys stampflii* from Kakum River Estuary and two from Benya Lagoon were examined. Specimens from Kakum River Estuary fed on fish, shrimps, fish scale, and shrimp larvae while at Benya Lagoon, this species fed on fish only.

Acanthuridae

Six (6) specimens of *Acanthurus monroviae* from Kakum River Estuary were examined. The detailed analysis of the food consumed by *Acanthurus monroviae* were algae which was the most consumed food item followed by plant material. Diatoms represented the least occurring food item in the estuarine fish. One specimen of *Acanthurus monroviae* was sampled from Benya lagoon with an empty stomach.

Ariidae

Twelve (12) specimens of *Arius gigas* from Kakum River Estuary and one (1) from Benya Lagoon were examined. The food items found in the guts of the specimen from the estuary were fish, scales, shrimps, and copepods while that from the lagoon had only fish in its stomach.

Gobiidae

Bathygobius soporator

Nineteen (19) individuals of *Bathygobius soporator* from Kakum River Estuary and nine individuals of *Bathygobius soporator* from Benya Lagoon were examined. The food of this fish from the estuary and the lagoon constituted of crustaceans, insects, gastropods and sand grains.

Porogobius schlegelii

Six (6) individuals of *porogobius schlegeli* from Benya Lagoon were examined. Copepods which were the most eaten food item occurred in five stomachs, followed by fish which occurred in four (4) stomachs and fish scale occurred in one of the stomachs examined.

Sciaenidae

One (1) *Pseudotolithus typus* was recorded from Kakum estuary and one (1) *P. senegalensis* was obtained from Benya lagoon. Both species had shrimps and fish in their stomachs.

Elopidae

Two (2) specimens of *Elops lacerta* from Kakum River Estuary and one (1) from Benya Lagoon were examined. The food items identified in the stomachs of these specimens were fish, shrimps, and plant materials

4.12 Less common fish species

Only Plectorhynchus (Haemulidae) one (1)each of macrolepis Scomberomorus tritor (Scombridae) and Cynoglossus canariensis (Cynoglossidae) was sampled in the two brackish systems and all had empty stomach.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

5.1 Biodiversity and similarity of the fish communities

Fish is the most important biota of brackish water systems contributing as an essential and beneficial food item (Pailwan *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, a study on fish biota gives indication of the state of ecosystem health.

Marine fisheries resources that were obtained from the estuary and the Lagoon during the period of study were diverse in nature. They include species belonging to the families Clupeidae, Mugilidae, Lutjanidae, Gobiidae, Bothidae, Carangidae, Sciaenidae, Elopidae, Gerreidae, Serranidae, Ariidae, Haemulidae, Acanthuridae, Scombridae and Cynoglossidae. Most of the species recorded in the present study were the same as Oribhabor and Ogbeibu (2012) in a study of the Niger Delta Mangrove Creek Nigeria, and Blay (1997) in Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon, Ghana. The current study recorded 25 marine species belonging to 16 families in the Kakum River Estuary and 24 marine species belonging to 16 families from Benya Lagoon. Comparing the number of species recorded in the present study with Blay (1997) in the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon, Blay (1997) recorded a greater number of fish species than what was recorded in the present study in the lagoon. Blay (1997) recorded 28 species belonging to 14 families in the estuary and 25 species belonging to 11 families in the lagoon. The differences might be attributed to the interaction between fish and its habitat (physical, as well as biological characteristics) which may be factors in predicting changes in overall abundance, breeding population size and other aspects of population structure (Emmanuel & Onyema, 2007; Emmanuel, 2009).

Salinity is an essential factor that influences the community structure of brackish systems in both the tropics and subtropics due to species differences in salinity tolerance (Little *et al.*, 1988). This might account for the presence or absence of some species in the estuary or the lagoon in spite of the close proximity of two brackish systems.

The result from the estuary and the lagoon showed a high diversity of fish community with most of the fish biota being dominated by marine species. These marine species include Mugil curema, Liza falcipinnis, Mugil bananensis, Liza dumerilii, Sardinella aurita, Caranx hippos, among others. This indicates that marine fishes migrate largely to utilize the estuary and the lagoon as feeding and spawning grounds by the adult and spend their life at sea while the juvenile fishes are nursed in the brackish water systems before they move to the marine habitat in their adult stage. This agrees with Albaret and Lae (2003) in Ebrie Lagoon in West Africa and Blay (1997) in Kakum River Eatuary and Benya Lagoon. According to Emmanuel and Oyenma (2007), marine fish species like Caranx hipos, Liza falcipinnis, Mugil cephalus, and Penaeus notialis occur in nearly freshwater to hyperhaline waters. Species must have had ability to adapt and cope with the variable conditions of the brackish water environment. Many fishes have evolved specialized physiological and behavioral adaptation; increasing the specialization of these adaptations to cope with localized conditions may be a strategy to exist as a permanent lagoon resident (Zander et al., 1999). The observed high diversity of the fish species recorded in both the estuary and the lagoon in the current study may also be attributable to fairly good environmental conditions that are ideal to favourable for fish survival and

64

good growth. The clossness of index of diversity of marine species from both the estuary and the lagoon indicated a high similarity betweent them. However, the high equtability value of 0.89 indicates an even distribution of number of individuals among the species.

5.2 Species size distribution and length-weight relationship

The size ranges of the most common marine fishes such as *Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumerilii, Mugil cephalus, Mugil curema, Mugil bananensis* (Mugilidae), *Sardinella aurita* (Clupeidae), *Lutjanus goreensis, Lutjanus fulgens, Lutjanus agennes* (Lutjanidae), *Caranx hippos* (Carangidae) were generally smaller than their normal reportd sizes. The smaller specimens, the modal length class and the weight of individual species of the fish community encountered throughout the study were much smaller at the estuary and the lagoon and is attributed to the mesh size (20 mm stretched mesh) of the cast net in sampling. This community structure is similar to reports by some researchers which indicate dominance of a few species in the total fish biomass of brackishwater habitats (Quinn, 1980; Little *et al.*, 1988; Green *et al.*, 2009, Okyere *et al.*, 2011). A similar situation was recorded for the fish biota of the creek in South-Western Nigeria (Emmanuel & Onyema, 2007).

The observation of juvenile fishes in the estuary and the lagoon indicates that these water bodies are mainly utilized by juvenile marine fish species as feeding and nursery grounds (Whitfield, 1990). In view of the commercial importance of majority of the fish species and the active anthropogenic activities ongoing in the estuary and the lagoon, enforcement of fisheries management regulations, especially with respect to conservation regulation to prevent the impact of the anthropogenic practices that affect

65

marine juvenile fishes that use both the estuary and the lagoon as nursery and feeding ground will be necessary. The recognition of a highly rich and diverse fish biota in the estuary reflects a high productive system that merits management planning and possible conservation status.

The length-weight relationships were highly significant (P < 0.05) for the fish species in the estuary and the lagoon. The correlation coefficients (r^2) ranged between 0.78 in Mugil curema to 0.97 in Eucinostomus melanopterus from Kakum River Estuary while in Benya Lagoon, the correlation coefficients (r^2) ranged from 0.88 in *Mugil curema* to 0.99 in *Caranx hippos*. The coefficient of determination (r^2) for length-weight relationships is high for all fish species ($r^2 = 0.78 - 0.99$) indicating that the length increases with an increase in weight of the fish and again indicated that there was strong relationship between the length and the weight of fish species from both the estuary and the lagoon. This is in agreement with previous studies on different fish species from various water bodies: (eg: Konan et al., 2007; Tah et al., 2012; Koffi et al., 2014; Ndiaye et al., 2015). Ndiaye et al. (2015) reported r² = 0.72 - 0.99 coefficient of determination (r²) for 31 fish species. At Kakum River Estuary, the estimates of b ranged from 2.38 in Liza dumerilli to 3.10 in Eucinostomus melanopterus with 95% confidence interval of b for all the nine fish species ranging from 0.08 to 0.22. Eucinostomus melanopterus and Sardinella aurita had exponents b, which were statistically significant to 3.0 which showed possible isometric growth in the fish species while the exponents b for the remaining seven were statistically not significant to 3.0 indicating possible allometric growth. At Benya Lagoon, the estimates of branged from 2.61 in Mugil curema to 3.04 in Eucinostomus melanopterus with 95% confidence interval of *b* for all the nine fish species ranging from 0.01 to 0.20. *Eucinostomus melanopterus* had an exponent *b*, which was statistically significant to 3.0 indicating possible isometric growth in the fish species while the remaining eight species had exponent *b* less than 3.0 which showed possible allometric growth. Values of the length component in the length-weight relationship being isometric implies that the fish species did not increase in weight faster than the cube of their total length while those being allometric implies the species increased in weight faster than in total length. This implies that weight increases with increasing size of the fish. The finding on the *b* estimates of this study is similar to the observations of Ndiaye *et al.* (2015) who reported that estimates of *b* ranged from 2.17 to 3.60 for 31 fish species (which included the Mugilidae, Carangidae, Clupeidae, Lutjanidae and the Gerreidae) sampled in the Saloum Delta, Senegal. The difference in *b* values might be related to differences in geographical areas with different conditions within the environment.

5.3 Food habits of marine fishes

Dietary analysis of the fish species using stomach content analysis is more accurate if the sample size is large (Hyslop, 1980). Sample sizes for some species were relatively small and this could be attributed to the fact that the species had low occurrence during sampling. Generally there is insufficient literature on details of food habits of some of the noncommercially important fish species examined together with the fewer individuals of fish species caught (<10), this limits the effective comparison of the feeding ecology of some fish populations in the Kakum River estuary and Benya Lagoon with fish populations elsewhere.

From the result on the stomach contents of all the fish species examined, it was observed that blue-gree algae, diatom, green algae, fish scales, nematods, fish flesh, fish egg, mollucs, detritus, sand, fish, shrimp, copepods, fish larvae, protozoa, dinofligelates, shrimp appendagies, crabs, annelids and unidentified items were consumed as food. In this study, it is suggested that there are likely three broad feeding groups of fish, which includes those that mainly fed on the plankton (planktophagous) and these species includes the Mugilidae, (predatory) these are the fish species that fed on other macroscopic animals in both the estuary and the lagoon which includes Gerriedae, and the Gobiidae, representing Non-piscivorous species while Lutjanidae, Carangidae, Bothidae, Sciaenidae, and Elopidae representing piscivorous species within the Kakum River Estuary and Benya lagoon. This is in consonance with Fagade and Olaniyan (1974).

The main food componets of *Caranx hippos* in the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon were shrimps, fish, nematodes, fish scale, crustacean larvae and some partially digested food item with nematodes forming a small portion of the food in the stomachs of this species. In the current study, this species from the Lagoon preferably fed more on fish. This is in agreement with a study on the food and feeding interrelationships of the fishes in the Lagos lagoon by Fagade and Olaniyan (1974) reported that, the preferred food components of *Caranx hippos* were mainly juvenile of clupeids, mostly consisting of juvenile of *E. fimbriata* and some species of cichlids. This situation was different comparatively to *Caranx hippos* from estuary. In the estuary, *Caranx hippos* feed more on shrimps and this might probably be due to different study areas and what was available for the fish species to feed on.

The stomach content showed that the food fed by *Pseudotolithus typus* and *Pseudotolithus senegalensis* in both water bodies were fish and shrimp. The result on food habits from the current study of these species confirms the findings. The report from Blay *et al.* (2006) showed that juveniles of *P. senegalensis* in Ghanaian coastal waters were stenophagous carnivores with high preference for juveniles of shrimps and other fishes including juveniles of *B. auritus*. Nunoo *et al.* (2013) reported that the principal food materials of the Family Sciaenidae were shrimps (Crustaceans). Again, Troadec (1971) reported that four stomachs out of five of *Pseudotholitus senegalensis* contained shrimps. Sidibé (2003) obtained the same results while studying the community of Sciaenidae off the Guinean coast.

The diet of *Elops lacerta* consisted mainly of fish, shrimp and plant materials. Studies on the diet composition in the ten pounder, *Elops lacerta* from Ologe lagoon, Lagos, Nigeria by Lawson and Aguda, (2001) reported that *Elops lacerta* is a predatory species which primarily feed on fish and crustaceans with fish being the most consumed food component. Fagade and Olaniyan (1973) grouped *E. lacerta* amongst piscivores feeding on juveniles of other fish species and crustaceans and identified that penaeid shrimps was the main food component of *E. lacerta*. Plant materials mainly micro algae whose taxonomic status could not be identified by the study were also recorded in the diet of *Elop lacerta*. Presumably they could have been ingested accidentally while feeding on benthic invertebrates.

Lutjanus goreensis in the estuary and the lagoon fed almost exclusively on shrimps, crab, fish scale, fish egg, fish, and shrimp appendages with shrimps and crabs being the most preferred food fed by *Lutjanus goreensis* from the estuary while those from the lagoon fed most on shrimp and fish scale. The food item ingested by *Lutjanus fulgens* were fish, shrimps, fish scales, crab, fish eggs, partially digested item and some unidentified food component. In Kakum River Estuary, this species fed more on fish and shrimp with little on fish scales while in Benya Lagoon, fish scales and fish were the most preferred food component. The main constituents of the diet of *Lutjanus agennes* in the estuary and the lagoon were fish, shrimp, fish scales, and crabs with fish and shrimps being the most preferred food item of *Lutjanus agennes* in the estuary while fish was the only most preferred food component fed by this species from the Lagoon.

The food item consumed by *Bothygobius soporator* from Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon varied from crustaceans and insects, to sand grain and gastropods with gastropods representing the smaller portion in the diet.

There was trophic diversification among the food component fed by *Eucinostomus melanopterus* from both Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon. The food component differed from annelids and copepods to fish scale. This has been repeatedly cited in the literature (Motta *et al.*, 1995; Zahorcsak *et al.*, 2000; Denadai *et al.*, 2012).

The main constituents of the diet of *Sardinella aurita* recorded from Kakum river estuary and Benya lagoon were copepods and detritus, dinoflagellates, protozoa and diatoms. In the present study it was identified that copepods was the most preferred food component for *Sardinella aurita*

from both water bodies. This is in agreement with what was reported by Stergiou and Karpouzi (2002) identified that sardine generally feeds on copepods. The presence of unrecognizable detritus as food component in the diet of *Sardinella aurita* has been reported by Nieland (1982). Apart from detritus, an annual average of the diet composition shows the zooplankton– phytoplankton ratio in the *Sardinella aurita* as 3: 2 (Nieland, 1982). Similar feeding habits have been reported for round sardinella in northeastern Mediterranean (Stergiou & Karpouzi, 2002). *Sardinella aurita* has been classified as an omnivorous, filter feeder species with preference for animal prey, whereas it was classified as an omnivore with preference plant material in other areas (Nieland, 1982).

The main constituents of the diet of *Acanthurus monroviae* were algae, diatom and plant material with plant material forming a very small portion of the food recorded.

The diet of *Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumerilli, Mugil bananensis, Mugil cephalus* and *Mugil curema* in the estuary and the lagoon were similar but slight variations were identified in proportions of food components. The most food items fed by these species in both the estuary and the lagoon were algae, diatoms, detrital material and sand particles. The present study indicates that the diet of the mullets (Mugilidae) examined does not differ from that studied in Ghana by Blay (1995a) and elsewhere in West Africa (King, 1988) where mullets have been reported to feed mainly on diatoms, organic detritus and sand grains. The nutritional value of detritus is due to its association with bacteria and protozoa (Bruslé, 1981). However, sand particles occurred in the stomachs of all the mullet species examined but was the major stomach

content of Mugil curema, forming 53% and 74% occurrence of the stomach contents respectively in the Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon. Ingested sand particles are supposedly helpful in the grinding of food particles in the thick-walled pyloric stomach, which acts as a gizzard (Thomson, 1966). Comparatively, results on food habits of grey mullet from the present study confirms the findings of Blay (1995a) who reported on the diet of juveniles of four mullet species (Liza falcipinnis, Liza dumerilii, Mugil curema and Mugil bananensis) from the Benya lagoon in Ghana. Comparatively, grey mullets in the Benya lagoon utilize a wider range of food items than those found in the Kakum river estuary and these differences could be attributed to variations in the productivity of the water and the range of food items present to the species [Brusle (1981) in Blay (1995a)]. Probably, unfavourable environmental conditions such as salinity and fluctuations in temperature might have inhibited the development of communities of such benthic fauna as polychaetes and nematodes, hence their absence in the diet of the grey mullet from the estuary. The diets of Porogobius schlegelii from Benya Lagoon were copepods, fish, and fish scale. Blay (1996) identified eleven items in the food of Porogobius schlegelii population in the Fosu lagoon (Ghana) which were detritus, fish scales, copepods, algae, rotifers, fish fry, insect larvae and some plant materials. In the present study however, only the copepods, fish and fish scale were eaten by this species from Benya lagoon. Considering the presence of several macrophagous species in the Benya lagoon where P. schlegelii is the only macrobenthophagous fish present (Blay & Asabre-Ameyaw, 1993, quoted in Okyere, 2010), it is conceivable that the consumption of such narrow range of prey by *Porogobius schlegelii* could be related to a resource partitioning with other species which can be a mechanism to reduce competition.

The species sampled from both the estuary and the lagoon was not sexually matured.

5.4 Diel Fluctuations in fish species

Concerning the community structure, a diel pattern was identified mainly related to the number of species, abundance, and biomass, where the species caught were neither diurnal nor nocturnal in Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon. This variation in the number of species and abundance observed in the present study over diel cycles may be due to visual stimulus and the avoidance capacity of the fish to the fishing nets, cryptic behavior and migration chances between day and night which are fundamental factors in capture success (Wardle, 1993). Behavioral studies show that many fishes are primarily active at night, searching for shelter during the day in inaccessible places to the fishing net or in other protection areas; therefore, these fishes are hardly caught in diurnal samplings (Wardle, 1993). In the Kakum River Estuary the highest density and biomass (g) of fish sampled respectively occurred in the night period but the situation was differnent in the lagoon. This occurrence of higher abundance and biomass values in the nocturnal period in the estuary might be attributed to increase in catchability at night or a movement of these individuals into the area at dusk and leaving at dawn or combination of both. Again the occurrence of large biomass at night is considered a common pattern to different environments of the coastal zones (Clark et al., 1996a, b). Wardle (1993) pointed out that the main factor that contributes to high abundance in biomass of fish is the protection of fish against predators due to the absence of sunlight, which would make the visualization of the prey difficult.

The fish community occurred in both the estuary and the lagoon at different times during sampling and the abundance of fish changed on an irregular basis. This suggests that temperature may play an important role in determining the behavior of the marine migrants. Wang *et al.* (1991) reported that the occurrence of the fish larvae and juveniles in the coastal waters of the Tanshui estuary was related to water temperature.

Variation in salinity was also greater in the current study. As a result, although a large proportion of the individuals recorded from the estuary and the lagoon were marine migrants and estuarine species which have a wide tolerance to salinity (Blaber, 1997).

5.5 Summary

In summery, marine fisheries resources obtained from the estuary and the Lagoon were diverse in nature with a high diversity of fish community. In the Kakum River Estuary the highest density and biomass (g) of fish sampled respectively occurred in the night period but the situation was different in the lagoon

CHAPTER SIX

CONCLUSIONS AND RECORMANDATIONS

6.1 Conclusions

The Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon are highly dynamic environments, where water temperature and salinity were within the optimal range.

A total of 23 marine fish species belonging to 15 families were collected from both Kakum River Estuary and Benya Lagoon. *Mugil curema* was the dominant species with a composition of 18.50% of the fish community at Kakum River Estuary while at Benya Lagoon the dominant fish spaecis was *Mugil bananensis* with 41.57% composition of the fish community.

The species richness as well as diversity values for the fish communities in the estuary was highest than the lagoon. Furthermore, there was a high similarity among the fish communities in the estuary and the lagoon which may be as a result of the prevailing highly similar environmental conditions.

In general however, larger individuals were not as abundant as smaller individuals as has previously been observed by other researchers in different locations as within the habitats and locations that were sampled during the study. Similarly, larger sizes may not have been sampled as effectively as smaller individuals due to factors such as habitat association and behavioural characteristics of the species. Since the sample was made up of juveniles in both water bodies emphasizes the point that estuaries and lagoons are mostly inhabited by juvenile fishes. Results of the food habits of the fishes indicated that the fish communities were made up of detritivorous, planktivorous, insectivorous, invertevorous, omnivorous and piscivorous fishes. However, the range of food items eaten by the fish populations in both the estuary and the lagoon were narrower than that reported for other populations in Ghana and elsewhere. Such a relatively narrow spectrum of food may be due to unavailability of a number of their dietary items in these water bodies.

Temperature and salinity are the most important factors that influence the greater variability in the abundance of the fish species in the estuary and the lagoon and also there is a strong correlation between all these variables and their influence on the species composition of the estuary.

Diel changes formed an unusual occurrence pattern in fish assemblage in Kakum River Estuary and and Benya Lagoon which possibly may be characterised by a tidal interchange of species by salinity effect and a partition of the habitat either being a diurnal species, nocturnal species or species occurring in both day and night catches but predominantly in one or the other periods. Diel differences may also be directly influenced by anthropogenic disturbance which is mostly high during 10:00, 2:00, and 14:00 hours.

6.2 Recommendations

The reduced fish faunal diversity in the current study, when compared with Blay (1996) in the same estuary and the lagoon environment warrants further investigations to help understand the dynamics relative to the richness and diversity of finfish biota and their assemblages in shallow water bodies.

76

The use of the Lagoon and the estuary by juvenile marine finfishes requires management planning and possible conservation measures as well as restricting fishing in these water bodies for proper maintenance of the biodiversity and to ensure sustainable recruitment of juveniles that migrate from the marine environment into shallow water systems.

The levels of certain inorganic pollutants (e.g. mercury and lead) in the estuary and the lagoon should be monitored to investigate their toxicity levels which could be used to advice on the use of the resources

However further study on the fish condition in relation to the tide over diel cycle in the area would provide better understanding on the tidal fluctuation the occurrence of marine species in these ecosystems for the betterment of conservation and management of the fishery resources.

6.3 Summary

In summery, marine fish species occurring in the estuary and the lagoon is higher compered to the adult fishes. This is an indication that, coastal water bodies are used by juvenile marine fishes as a nursery and a feeding ground and spend their adult life at in sisee.

REFERENCES

- Acosta, A., (1997). Use of multi-mesh gillnets and trammels nets to estimate fish species composition in coral reef and mangroves in the southwest coast of Puerto Rico. Caribb. J. Sci. 33, 45–57.
- Aggrey-Fynn1, J., Fynn-Korsah1, S. & Appiah, N. (2013). Length-Weight Relationships and Food Preference of Two Coastal Marine Fishes, Galeoides decadactylus (Polynemidae) and Sphyraena sphyraena (Sphyraenidae) off Cape Coast, Ghana. West African Journal of Applied Ecology, vol. 21 (1).
- Albaret, J. & Lae, R. (2003). Impact of fishing on fish assemblages in tropical lagoons: the example of the Ebrie lagoon, West Africa. *Aquatic Living Resources*, 16: 1-9.
- Altieri, A. H., Bertness, M. D., Coverdale, T. C., Herrmann, N. C. & Angelini,
 C. (2012). A trophic cascade triggers collapse of a salt-marsh ecosystem with intensive recreational fishing. *Ecology* 93:1402–1410.
- Angell, C. L. (1973). Algunoo aspectos deLa biologia de la Liza Mugil curema Valenciemmes en aguas hipersalinas delnororiente de Venezuela. Mem. Soc. Cienc. Nat., 96:223-3
- Araújo, M. S. & Gonzaga, M. O. (2007) Individual specialization in the hunting wasp Trypoxylon (Trypargilum) albonigrum (Hymenoptera, Crabronidae). *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 61: 1855–1863
- Araújo, M. S., Bolnick, D. I., Machado, G., Giaretta, A. A. & dos Reis, S. F.
 (2007). Using δ13C stable isotopes to quantify individual level diet variation. *Ecological* 152:643–654

- Arrivillaga, A. & D. M. Baltz. (1999). Comparison of fishes and macroinvertebrates on seagrass and bare-sand sites on Guatemala's Atlantic coast. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 65: 301-319.
- Atrill, M. J., & Power, M. (2002). Climatic influence on a marine fish assemblage. *Nature* 417:275–278.
- Ayoade, A. A. & Ikulala, A. O. O. (2007). Length-weight relationship, condition factor and stomach contents of *Hemichromis bimaculatus, Sarotherodon melanotheron* and *Chromidotilapia guentheri* (Perciformes: Cichlidae) in Eleiyele Lake, Southwestern Nigeria. *International Journal of Tropical Biology*, 55(3-4), 969-977.
- Bannerman, P. O. & Cowx, I. G. (2002). Stock Assessment of the big-ege grunt (Brachydeuterus auritus) Fishery in Ghanaian Coastal Waters. *Fiseheries Research* 59, 197-207
- Baran, E., & Hambrey, J. (1999). Mangrove conservation and coastal management in south East Asia: What impact on fishery resources? *Mar. Poll. Bull.* 37, 431–440.
- Barbier, E. B., Hacker, S. D., Kennedy, C., Koch, E. W., Stier, A. C., & Silliman, B. R. (2011). The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. *Ecological monographs*, 18 (2), 169-193
- Barletta, M., Barletta-Bergen, A., Saint-Paul, U., & Hubold, G., (2005). The role of salinity in structuring the fish assemblages in a tropical estuary.*J. Fish Biol.* 66, 45–72.

- Barreiros, J. P., Borba, A. E. D. E. & Santas, R. S. (2002). Food habits schooling and predatory behavior of the yellow mouth barracuda, *Sphyraena viridensis* (Perciformes: Sphyraenidae) in the Azores. *Cybium*, 26: 83–88.
- Beck, M.W., Heck Jr., K. L., Able, K.W., Childers, D. L., Eggleston, D. B.,
 Gillanders, B. M., Halpern, B., Hays, C. G., Hoshino, K., Minello, T.
 J., Orth, R. J., Sheridan, P. F., & Weinstein, M. P. (2001). The identification, conservation, and management of estuarine and marine nurseries for fish and invertebrates. *BioScience* 51: 633-641.
- Biney, C. A. (1982) Prelimnary survey of the state of pollution of the coastal environment of Ghana. *Oceanogical. Acta*, 4 (54), 39-42
- Biney, C. A. (1983). A chemical survey of the Volta Estuary. *Tropical*. *Ecology*, 24, 58-61.
- Biney, C. A. (1990). A review of some characteristics of fresh water and water ecosystems of Ghana. *Hydrobiologia*, 208, 45-53.
- Biney, C. A. (1995). The Limnology of three coastal lagoons in Ghana. In Ghana Coastal Wetlands Management Projects. National Seminar on Coastal Wetlands. World Bank / GEF.
- Blaber, S. J. M. (1997). Fish and fisheries of tropical estuaries. Chapman and Hall, London. 367 p.
- Blaber, S. J. M. & Blaber, T. G. (1980). Factors affecting the distribution of juvenile estuarine and inshore fish. J. Fish Biol. 17:143-162.
- Blaber, S. J.M., & Cyrus, D. P. (1981). A revised checklist and further notes on the fishes of the Kosi system. Lammergeyer 31, 5–14.

- Blanck, A. & Lamouroux, N. (2007). Large-scale intraspecific variation in life-history traits of 44 European freshwater fish. *J Biogeogr* 34: 862–875.A. BlanckN. Lamouroux2007Large-scale intraspecific variation in life-history traits of 44 European freshwater fish. *J Biogeogr*. 34862875
- Blay J. Jr. (1997). Occurrence and diversity of juvenile marine fishes in two brackishwater systems in Ghana. In *Biodiversity Conservation: Traditional Knowledge and Modern Concepts*. (D. S. Amlalo, L. D. Atsiatorme and C. Fiati, eds), pp. 113–119. UNESCO-BRAAF Proceedings, Cape Coasts
- Blay, J, Jr. (1996). Aspects of the feeding biology of *Porogobius schlegelli* (Gunter) (Psices: Gobiidae) in the Fosu Lagoon, Ghana. Vol31-36
- Blay, J. Jr. (1995a.). Food and feeding habits of four species of juvenile mullets (Mugilidae) in a tidal lagoon in Ghana. J. Fish. Biol. 46: 134– 141.
- Blay, J. Jr. (1995b). Food habits and diel feeding periodicity of juvenile sickle fin mullet, *Liza falcipinnis* (Pisces, Mugilidae) in a 'closed lagoon' in Ghana. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 9, 1-11.
- Blay, J. Jr., Awittor, W. K. & Agbeko, D. (2006). Seasonal variation in food preferences and ecology of two juvenile marine fishes, *Pseudotolithus senegalensis* (Scianidae) and *Brachydeuterus auritus* (Haemulidae), off Cape Coast, Ghana. *West Afr. J. appl. Ecol.* 9: 610–614.
- Blay, J. Jr. & Asabere-Ameyaw, A. (1993). Assessment of the fishery of a stunted population of the cichlid, *Sarotherodon melatherodon* (Ruppel), in a 'closed' lagoon in Ghana. J. Appl. Ichth. yol.9:1-11

- Blay, J. Jr. & Eyeson, K. N. (1982). Feeding activity and food habits of the shad *Ethmalosa fimbriata* (Bodwich) in the coastal waters of Cape Coast, Ghana. *Journal, of Fish .Biology*, 21, 403-410.
- Boix, D., Sala, J., Gascón, S., Martinoy, M., & Gifre, J. (2007). Comparative biodiversity of crustaceans and aquatic insects in different waterbody types in coastal Mediterranean wetlands. Hydrobiologia 584: 347–359
- Bolnick, D. I., Yang, L. H., Fordyce, J. A., Davis, J. M., & Svanback, R.(2002). Measuring individual-level resource specialization. Ecology 83:2936–2941
- Bolnick, D. I., Svanback, R., Fordyce, J. A., Yang, L. H., Davis, J. M., Hulsey,C. D., & Forister, M. L. (2003). The ecology of individuals: incidence and implications of individual specialization. Am Nat 161:1–28
- Brucet, S., Boix, D., Gascón, S., Sala, J., & Quintana, X. D. (2009). Species richness of crustacean zooplankton and trophic structure of brackish lagoons in contrasting climate zones: north temperate Denmark and Mediterranean Catalonia (Spain). *Ecography* 32: 692–702
- Brucet, S., Boix, D., Quintana, X. D., Jensen, E., & Nathansen, L. W. (2010).
 Factors influencing zooplankton size structure at contrasting temperatures in coastal shallow lakes: implications for effects of climate change. *Limnol Oceanogr* 55: 1697–1711.S.
- Bruthet, J. (1975). Observations on thebiology of *Mugil Cephalus* osenteensisand the possibility of its aquaculture on the Mauritanian Coast. Aquaculture, 5:271-81p
- Bruslé, J. (1981). Food and feeding in grey mullets. In Aquaculture of the grey mullets (O.H. Oren, ed.). Cambridge Univ. Press. pp. 185–217.

- Burks, R. L., Lodge, D. M., Jeppesen, E., & Lauridsen, T. L. (2002). Diel horizontal migration of zooplankton: costs and benefits of inhabiting littoral zones. *Freshwater Biol.* 47: 343–365
- Carbonell, A. (1997). Disacrds of theWestern Mediterranean Trawl Fleet. Final Report, Contract nDGXIV-MED/94/027.
- Carpenter K. E. & Niem V. H. (2001). The Living Marine Resources of the Western Central Pacific, Bony Fishes Part 4 (Labridae to Latimeriidae), Estuarine Crocodiles, Sea Turtles, Sea Snakes and Marine Mammals. In FAO species Identification Guide for Fishery Purposes. FAO Rome, Italy, 6:3381–4218.
- Crabtree, R. E., & Stevens, C. (1998). Feeding habits of bonefish, Albula vulpes, from the waters of the Florida Keys. Fish Bull. NOAA 96: 754-766.
- Chesney, E. J., Baltz, D. M., & Thomas, R. G. (2000). Louisiana estuarine and coastal fisheries and habitats: perspectives from a fish's eye view. *Ecological Applications*, 10(2), 350-366.
- Christensen, V., & Pauly, D. (1992). ECOPATH II—a software for balancing steady-state ecosystem models and calculating network characteristics. *Ecol. Model.* 61, 169–185.
- Clark, B. M, Bennett, S. J. & Lamberth, S. J. (1996a). Temporal variations in surf zone fish assemblages from False Bay, South Africa. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., v.131, p. 35-47,.
- Clark, B. M, Bennett, S. J. & Lamberth, S. J. (1996b). Factors affecting spatial variability in seine net catches of fish in the surf zone of False Bay, South Africa. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, v. 131, p. 7-34,

- Clayton, D. A. (1993). Mudskippers. Mar. Biol. Oceanogr. Annu. Rev. 31, 507–577.
- Cloern, J. E. (2001). Our evolving conceptual model of the coastal eutrophication problem. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 210:223–253.
- Cloern, J. E., Jassby, A. D., Thompson, J. K. & Hieb, K. A. (2007). A cold phase of the East Pacific triggers new phytoplankton blooms in San Francisco Bay. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104:18561–18565.
- Constanza, R, Kemp W.N. & Boynton W.R. (1993). Predictability, scale and biodiversity in Coastal estuarine ecosystems: *Implications and Management*. *Ambio.* 22 (2-3), 88-96
- Dankwa, H. R., Blay, J. Jr. & Yankson, K. (2005). Food and feeding habits of grey mullets (Pisces: Mugilidae) in two estuaries in Ghana. West Afr. J. appl. Ecol. 8: 65–77.
- Dankwa, H. R., Abban, E. K. & Teugels, G. G. (1999). Freshwater fishes ofGhana: identification, distribution, ecological and economic importance. *Annls.Sci. zool.* 283
- Das, N.R. (1980). Taxonomy and Biology of Liza tade (Forskal) and its Fishery inthe coastal area of the Bay of Bengal.M.Sc. Institute of Marine Sciences University of Chittagong.48p

- Denadai, M. R., Santos, F. B., Bessa, E., Fernandez, W. S., Paschoal, C. C. & Turra, A. (2012). Diets of Eucinostomus argenteus (Baird & Girard, 1855) and Diapterus rhombeus (Cuvier, 1829) (Perciformes: Gerreidae) in Caraguatatuba Bay, southeastern Brazil. *Pan-American Journal of Aquatic Sciences*. 7: 143-155.
- De Sylva, D.P. (1975). Nektonic food webs in estuaries. In: Cronin L.E. (ed) Estuarine Research Vol 1. Chemistry, Biology and the Estuarine System. *Academic Press Inc.* pp 420-447
- Duarte, P., Macedo, M. F. & Fonseca, L. C. (2006). The relationship between phytoplankton diversity and community function in a coastal lagoon. *Hydrobiologia*, 555, 3–18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10750-005-1101-</u> <u>9</u>
- Duffuor, K. (2005). Developments in the Fisheries Sector. Daily Graphic, 31.
- Elliott, M & Hemingway, K. (2002). Fish in estuaries. Blackwall, Oxford, pp. 124-217
- Elliott, M., Hemingway, K., Costello, M. J., Duhamel, S., Hostens, K., Laropoulou, M., Marshall, S. & Winkler, H. (2002). Link between fish and other trophic levels. In: Elliott, M and Hemingway, K. (2002). Fish in estuaries. *Blackwall, Oxford*, pp. 124-217
- Emlen, J. M. (1966). The role of time and energy in food preferences. Am Nat 100:611–617
- Emmanuel, B. E. (2009). The artisanal fishing gears, crafts technology and their efficiency in the Lekki lagoon, Nigeria. Ph.D thesis, University of Lagos. p. 256.

- Emmanuel, B. E., Gbeson, K. & Osibona, A. O. (2010). Morphology, fecundity and diet of Galeoides decadactylus (Pisces: Polynemidae) (Bolch, 1795) off Nigerian Coast. *Nat. Sci.* 8(3): 15-23.
- Emmanuel, B. E. & Onyema, I. C. (2007). The plankton and fishes of a tropical creek in south-western, Nigeria. Turk. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 7:105-114
- EPA, Ghana Climate Change Impacts, Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessments. (2008). The Netherlands Climate Change Assistance Programme (NCAP), Accra, 423pp.
- Erman, F. (1961). On the biology of thicklipped grey mullet (Mugil chelo Cuv.). Rap. P.V. Comm. *Int. Explor. Sci. Mer. Mediiterr.*, 16 : 227 85p.
- Félix-Hackradt, F. C., Spach, L. H., Moro, P. S., Pichler, A. H., Maggi1, S. A., Hostim-Silva, M. and Carlos W. and Hackradt, W. C. (2010). Diel and tidal variation in surf zone fish assemblages of a sheltered beach in southern Brazil. DOI: 10.3856/vol38-issue3-fulltext-9Lat. Am. J. Aquat. Res. 38(3): 447-460,
- FAO. (2006). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture, (2006). Rome.
- FAO. (1976). Perspective study of agriculture development for Ghana:Fisheries Sector. Rome, FAO Publ. (ESP/PS/GHS/76/11), 9 pp.
- Fagade, S.O. and Olaniyan, C.I.O. (1973). The biology of the West African shad, Ethmalosa fimbriata (Bowdich) in the Lagos Lagoon, Nigeria. *Journal of Fisheries Biology*, 4: 519-533.

- Fagade, S. O., & Olaniyan, C. I. O. (1974). Seasonal distribution of the fish fauna of the Lagos Lagoon. Bull. De I..I. F. A. N. T., Ser. A 36(1):244.252.
- Gaelzer, R. L. & Zalmon, R. I. (2008). Diel variation of fish community in sandy beaches of southeastern Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Oceanography, 56(1):23-39
- Garcia, A. M., Vieira, J. P., & Winemiller, K. O. (2001). Dynamics of the shallow-water fish assemblage of the Patos Lagoon and estuary (Brazil) during cold and warm ENSO episodes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 59(5), 1218-1238.
- Gaughan, D. J. & Mitchell, R.W.D., (2000). The biology and stock assessment of the tropical sardine, *Sardinella lemuru*, off the mid-west coast of Western Australia. Final Report, FRDC Project 95/037: Western Australia.
- Gibbons M. J. (1997). An introduction to the zooplankton of the Benguela current region. NBD, Western Cape, Cape Town, 50 pp
- Gibson R. N. (1994). Impact of habitat quality and quantity on recruitment of juvenile flatfishes. *Neth J Sea Res.* 32: 191-206
- Gibson, R. N., Robb, L., Burrows, M. T., & Ansell, A. D. (1996). Temporal changes in fish distribution. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 130: 1-17,
- Gilman, E. L., Ellison, J., Duke, N. C., & Field, C. (2008). Threats to mangroves from climate change and adaptation options: a review. Aquatic botany, 89(2), 237-250.

- Gleason, M. G., Newkirk, S., Merrifield, M. S., Howard, J., Cox, R., Webb,
 M., Koepcke, J., Stranko, B., Taylor, B., Beck, M. W., Fuller, R., Dye,
 P., Vander Schaaf, D. & Carter, J. (2011). A conservation assessment
 of West Coast (USA) estuaries. The Nature Conservancy, Arlington
 VA. 65pp
- Godefroid, R.S., H.L. Spach, C. Santos, G.N.Q. McLaren, R. & Schwarz, Jr. (2004). Mudanças temporais na abundância e diversidade da fauna de peixes do infralitoral raso de ma praia, sul do Brasil. *Iheringia, Ser. Zool.*, 94(1): 95-104.
- Gomes, M. P., Cunha, M. S., & Zalmon, I. R. (2003). Spatial and temporal variations of diurnal ichthyofauna on surf zone of São Francisico do Itabapoana beaches, RJ, Brazil. Brazil. Arqs Biol. Techn., v. 46, n. 4, p. 653-664.
- Greene, C. M., Blackhart, K. Nohner, J., Candelmo, A. & Nelson, D. M. (2014). A national assessment of stressors to estuarine fish habitats in the contiguous USA. Estuaries and Coasts, in press.
- Green, B. C., Smith D. J., Earley, S. E., Hepburn, L. J. & Underwood, G. J. C. (2009). Seasonal changes in community composition and trophic structure of fish populations of five salt marshes along the Essex coastline, United Kingdom. Estuarine, *Coastal and Shelf Science*, 85(2), 247-256.
- Halpern, B. S., Kappel, C. V., Selkoe, K. A., Micheli, F., Ebert, C. M., Kontgis, Crain, C. M., Martone, R. G., Shearer, C. & Teck, S. J. (2009). Mapping cumulative human impacts to California Current marine ecosystems. *Conservation Letters*. 2:138–148.

- Hammerschlag, N., Ovando, D., & Serafy, J. E. (2010). Seasonal diet and feeding habits of juvenile fishes foraging along a subtropical marine ecotone. *Aquat Biol. doi:* 10.3354/ab00251. Vol. 9: 279–290/b137862
- Hart, B. T., Bailey, P., Edwards, R., Hortle, K., & James, K. (1991). A review of the salt sensitivity of the Australian freshwater biota. *Hydrobiologia* 210: 105–144
- Hester, E. T., & Doyle, M. W. (2011). Human impacts to river temperature and their effects on biological processes: a quantitative Synthesis1.Vol. 2:153-31
- Hobson, E. S. (1965). Diurnal nocturnal activity of some inshore fishes in the Gulf of California. Copeia, Vol. 3, p. 291-302.
- Hoese, H. D. (1973). A trawl study of nearshore fishes and invertebrates of the georgia coast. *Contributions in Marine Science*, vol. 17, p. 63-98.
- Hoover, E. A. (2007). Effects of temperature, salinity and dissolved oxygen on survival of triploid and diploid hard clams, Mercenaria mercenaria (Doctoral dissertation, University of Florida).
- Horn, M. H. (1980). Diel seasonal variation in abundance and diversity of shallow-water fish populations in Morro Bay, *California. Fish. Bull.*, v. 78, n. 3, p. 759-770.
- Hosseini, S. A., Jamili, S., Valinassab, T., Vosoghi, G. & Fatemi, S. M. R.(2009). Feeding and spawning of *Sphyraena jello* in the North West of Persian Gulf. *J. Fish aquat. Sci.* 4: 57–62.
- Hughes, B. B., Haskins, J., Wasson, K. & Watson, E. (2011). Identifying factors that influence expression of eutrophication in a central California estuary. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. 439:31–43.

- Hughes, B. B., Fountain, M., Carlisle, A., Levey, M. & Gleason, M. (2012).The impacts of nutrient loading and environmental conditions on the fish assemblage and available nursery habitat in Elkhorn Slough. The Nature Conservancy.
- Hughes, B. B., Eby, R., Van-Dyke, E., Tinker, M. T., Marks, C. I., Johnson,
 K. S. & Wasson, K. (2013). Recovery of a top predator mediates negative eutrophic effects on seagrass. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, USA 110:1513–1518
- Hughes, B. B., Levey, M. D., Brown, J. A., Fountain, M. C., Carlisle, A. B.,
 Litvin, S. Y., Greene, C. M., Heady, W. N. & Gleason, M. G. (2014).
 Nursery Functions of U.S. West Coast Estuaries: The State of
 Knowledge for Juveniles of Focal Invertebrate and Fish Species. *The Nature Conservancy, Arlington*, VA. 168pp.
- Humbert, J.-F. & Dorigo, U. (2005). Biodiversity and aquatic ecosystem functioning: A mini- review. Aquatic Ecosystem Health and Management, 8, 367–374. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14634980500457</u> 773
- Hyslop E. J. (1980). Stomach contents analysis A review of methods and their application. J. Fish Biol. 17: 411–429.
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2001). Third Assessment Report, WMO and UNEP, Geneva Switzerland.
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (2003). Integrating Sustainable Development and Climate Change in the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4), WMO and UNEP, Geneva Switzerland.

- Ishimatsu, A., & Graham, J. B. (2011). Roles of environmental cues for embryonic incubation and hatching in mudskippers. Integrative and comparative biology, icr018.
- Jackson, E. L., Rowden, A. A., Attrill, M. J., Bossey, S. J., & Jones, M. B. (2001). The importance of seagrass beds as a habitat for fishery species. *Oceanography and marine biology*, 39, 269-304.
- Jensen, E., Brucet, S., Meerhoff, M., Nathansen, L., & Jeppesen, E. (2010). Community structure and diel migration of zooplankton in shallow brackish lakes: role of salinity and predators. *Hydrobiologia* 646: 215– 229
- Jeppesen, E., Meerhoff, M., Holmgren, K., González-Bergonzoni, I., & Teixeira-de Mello F. (2010). Impacts of climate warming on lake fish community structure and ecosystem function. *Hydrobiologia* 646: 73– 90
- Jeppesen, E., Søndergaard, M., Pedersen, A. R., Jürgens, K., & Strzelczak, A. (2007). Salinity induced regime shift in shallow brackish lagoons. Ecosystems 10: 47–57
- Jones, J. I., & Sayer, C. D. (2003). Does the fish-invertebrate-periphyton cascade precipitate plant loss in shallow lakes? Ecology 84: 2155– 2167.JI JonesCD Sayer2003Does the fish-invertebrate-periphyton cascade precipitate plant loss in shallow lakes? Ecology8421552167
- Kapetsky, J. M. (1981). Some considerations for the management of coastal lagoon and estuarine fisheries, ecosystems: *FAO Fish. TeckPaper* No. 218:,47p.

- Kefford, B. J., Papas, P. J., & Nugegoda, D. (2003). Relative salinity tolerance of macroinvertebrates from the Barwon River, Victoria, Australia. *Mar Freshwater Res* Vol. 54: 755–765
- Kennish, M. J. (2002). Environmental threats and environmental future of estuaries. *Environmental conservation*, 29(01), 78-107.
- King, R. P. (1988). New observations on the trophic ecology of Liza grandisquamis (Valenciennes, 1836) (Pisces: Mugilidae) in the Bonny river, Niger Delta, Nigeria. Cybium 12 (1): 23–36.
- Koffi, B.K., Berté, S. & Koné, T. (2014). Length-Weight Relationships of 30Fish Species in Aby Lagoon, Southeastern Côte d" Ivoire. Curr. Res. J. Biol. Sci. (Sous presse).
- Konan, A. K. F., Ouattara, M., Ouattara, A. & Gourène, G. (2007). Weightlength relationship of 57 fish species of the coastal rivers in southeastern of Ivory Coast. *Ribarstvo*, 65(2): 49-60.
- Koranteng, K. A. (1995). Ghana Coastal Wetlands Management Project Environmental Baseline Studies (a: Densu -delta, b: Sakumo and c: Muni RAMSAR sites): Fisheries. A report prepared for the Ghana Wildlife Department (GW/A.285/SF2/31) Government of Ghana.
- Krebs, C. J. (1999). Ecological Methodology. Canada, Addison-Welsey Educational Publishers Inc., 620 pp.
- Kruitwagen, G., Nagelkerken, I., Lugendo, B.R., Pratap, H.B., & Wendelaar-Bonga, S.E. (2007). Influence of morphology and amphibious life-style on the feeding ecology of the mudskipper (*Periophthalmus argentilineatus*). J. Fish Biol. 71, 39–52.

- Kwak, T. J., Cooney, P. B., & Brown, C. H. (2007). Fishery population and habitat assessment in Puerto Rico streams: phase 1 final report. Federal Aid in Sport Fish Restoration Project F-50 Final Report. Marine Resources Division, Puerto Rico Department of Natural and Environmental Resources, San Juan.
- Kwei, E. A. (1977). Biological, chemical and hydrobilogical characters of coastal lagoons in Ghana, West Africa. Hydrobiologia 56,157-74.
- Kwei, E. A. & Ofori-Adu, D. W. (2005). Fishes in the coastal waters of Ghana. *Ronna Publishers*, Tema.108 pp.
- Larson, E. J. (2001). Coastal wetlands-emergent marshes.. In California's Living Marine Resources: A Status Report, eds. W. S. Leet, C. M. Dewees, R. Klingbeil, and E. J. Larson, 483–486. California and California Department of Fish and Game, Sacramento, California.
- Lawson, E. O. & Aguda, A. F. (2001). Growth patterns, diet composition and reproduction in the ten pounder, *Elops lacerta* from Ologe lagoon, Lagos, Nigeria. Agric. *Biol. J. N. Am.*, vol. 1(5): 974-984
- Layman, C. A., Quattrochi, J. P., Peyer, C. M., & Allgeier, J.E. (2007) Niche width collapse in a resilient top predator following ecosystem fragmentation. *Ecol Lett* 10:937–944
- Lévêque, C. (1995). Role and consequences of fish diversity in the functioning of African freshwater ecosystems: A review. *Aquatic Living Resources*, 8, 59-78.
- Ley, J. A., Mclvor, C. C. & Montague, C. L. (1999). Fishes in mangrove proproot habitats of northeastern Florida Bay: distinct assemblages across an estuarine gradient. Estuar. Coast. *Shelf Sci.* 48: 701-723.

- Lin, H.J. & Shao, K. T. (1999). Seasonal and diel changes in a subtropical mangrove fish assemblage. *Bull. Mar. Sci.*, 65: 775-794.
- Little, M. C., Reay, P. J. & Grove, S. J. (1988). The fish community of an East African Mangrove Creek. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 32, 729 – 747.
- Livingston, R. J. (1976). Diurnal and seasonal fluctuations of organisms in a north Florida estuary. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci., 4: 373-400.
- Lotze, H. K., Lenihan, H. S., Bradbury, R. H., Cooke, R. G., Kay, M. C., Kidwell, S. M., Kirby, M. X., Peterson, C. H. & Jackson, J. B. (2006).
 Depletion, degradation, and recovery potential of estuaries and coastal seas. Science 312:1806–1809.
- Lugendo, B. R., Nagelkerken, I., van der Velde, G., & Mgaya, Y. D. (2006). The importance of mangroves, mud/sand flats and seagrass beds as feeding areas for juvenile fish in Chwaka Bay, Zanzibar: gut content and stable isotope analysis. *J. Fish Biol.* 69, 1639–1661.
- Lugendo, B.R., de Groene, A., Cornelissen, I., Pronker, A., Nagelkerken, I., van der Velde, G., & Mgaya, Y.D. (2007a). Spatial and temporal variation in fish community structure of a marine embayment in Zanzibar, Tanzania. *Hydrobiologia* 586, 1–16.
- Maggs, J. Q., Mann, B. Q. & Cowley, P. D. (2013). Contribution of a large notake zone to the management of vulnerable reef fishes in the South-West Indian Ocean. *Fisheries Research* 144, 38e47.
- Meerhoff, M., Clemente, J. M., Teixeira de Mello, F., Iglesias, C., & Pedersen,
 A. R. (2007). Can warm climate-related structure of littoral predator assemblies weaken the clear water state in shallow lakes? *Global Change Biol.* 13: 1888–1897.

- Meerhoff, M, Iglesias C, Teixeira de Mello, F, Clemente, J. M., & Jensen, E. (2007a). Effects of habitat complexity on community structure and predator avoidance behaviour of littoral zooplankton in temperate versus subtropical shallow lakes. *Freshwater Biol.* 52: 1009–1021.
- Mehl, S., Alvheim O. & Quaatey S. N. K. (2004). Surveys of the fish resources of the Western Gulf of Guinea (Benin, Togo, Ghana, Cote d'Ivoire). Survey of the pelagic and demersal resources 14 May–08 June 2004. NORAD-FAO/UNDP project GCP/INT/730/NOR. Cruise reports Dr. Fridtjof Nansen, Institute of Marine Research, Bergen, Norway. 59 pp.
- Mehl, S., Olsen M. & Bannerman P. O. (2005). Surveys of the fish resources of the Western Gulf of Guinea (Benin, Togo, Ghana, Cote d'Ivoire).
 Survey of the pelagic and demersal resources 3–29 May 2005.
 NORAD-FAO/UNDP project GCP/INT/730/NOR. Cruise reports Dr. Fridtjof Nansen, Institute of Marine Research, Bergen, Norway. 63pp.
- Mendoza J. J. (1993). A preliminary biomass budget for the northeasternVenezuela shelf ecosystem. In Trophic Models of Aquatic Ecosystems.(V. Christensen and D. Pauly, ed.), pp. 285–297
- Mensah M.A & Quaatey S. N. K. (2002). An Overview of Fishery Resources and Fishery Research in the Gulf of Guinea. In The Gulf of Guinea Large Marine Ecosystem: Environmental Forcing and Sustainable Development of Marine Resources. (J. M. McGlade, P. Cury, K. A. Koranteng and N. J. Hardman-Mountford. eds). Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Merrifield, M. S., Hines, E., Liu, X. & Beck, M. W. (2011). Building regional threat-based networks for estuaries in the Western United States. PLoS One 6:e17407.
- Mensah, M. A. (1979). The Hydrology and Fisheries of the Lagoons Estuaries of Ghana Fisheries Research Unit, Ghana. Report No.7.
- Mereta, S. T. (2013). Water quality and ecological assessment of natural wetlands in Southwest Ethiopia (Doctoral dissertation, Ghent University).
- Meyer-Reil, L. A, & Köster M. (2000). Eutrophication of marine waters: effects on benthic microbial communities. *Marine Pollut Bull*. 41:255–263.
- Miracle, M. R., Moss, B., Vicente, E., Romo, S., & Rueda, J. (2006). Response of macroinvertebrates to experimental nutrient and fish additions in European localities at different latitudes. *Limnetica* 25: 585–612.
- Molles, M. C. (1999). Ecology: Concepts and Applications. *McGraw-Hill, London*, 509 pp.
- Motta, P. J., Clifton, K. B., Hernandez, P., Eggold, B. T., Giordano, S. D. & Wilcox, R. (1995). Feeding relationships nine species of seagrass fishes of Tampa Bay, Florida. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 56: 185-200.
- Morrison, M. A., Francis, M. P. Hartill, B. W. & Parkinson, D. M. (2002).
 Diurnal and tidal variation in the abundance of the fish fauna of a temperate tidal mudflat. Estuar. *Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 54: 793-807.

- Nagelkerken, I., Sheaves, M., Baker, R. & Connolly, R. M. (2013). The seascape nursery: A novel spatial approach to identify and manage nurseries for coastal marine fauna. *Fish and Fisheries* 47:23–38.
- Nagelkerken, I. (2007). Are non-estuarine mangroves connected to coral reefs through fish migration? Bulletin of Marine Science 80, 595-607.
- Nagelkerken, I., van der Velde, G., Verberk, W.C.E.P., & Dorenbosch, M. (2006). Segregation along multiple resource axes in a tropical seagrass fish community. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 308, 79–89.
- Nagelkerken, I., and van der Velde, G., (2004b). Relative importance of interlinked mangroves and seagrass beds as feeding habitats for juvenile reef fish on a Caribbean island. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 274, 153–159.
- Nagelkerken, I., Dorenbosch, M., Verberk, W. C. E. P., Cocheret de la and Morinie`re, E., & van der Velde, G. (2000a). Day-night shifts of fishes between shallow water biotopes of a Caribbean bay, with emphasis on the nocturnal feeding of Haemulidae and Lutjanidae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 194, 55–64.
- Nagelkerken, I., Dorenbosch, M., Verberk, W. C. E. P., Cocheret de la Morinie`re, E., & van der Velde, G. (2000b). Importance of shallowwater biotopes of a Caribbean bay for juvenile coral reef fishes: patterns in biotope association, community structure and spatial distribution. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 202, 175–192.
- Nash, R. D. M. (1986). Diel fluctuations of shallow water fish community in the inner Oslofjord, Norway. *Mar. Ecol.*, 7: 219-232.

- Nash, R.D.M. & Santos, R. S. (1998). Seasonality in diel catch rate of small fishes in a shallow-water fish assemblage at Porto Pim Bay, Faial, Azores. Estuar. Coast. *Shelf Sci.*, 47: 319-328.
- Ndiaye, W., Sarr,A., Diouf,M., Faye, A., & Mbodji, A. (2015). Lengthweight relationships of some fish species from the Saloum Delta, Senegal. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, Volume 3, Issue 4, 132-138
- Neumann, B., Vafeidis, A. T., Zimmermann, J., & Nicholls, R. J. (2015). Future coastal population growth and exposure to sea-level rise and coastal flooding-a global assessment. PloS one, 10(3), e0118571.
- Newell, G. E. & Newell, R. C. (1963). Marine plankton a practical guide. Hutchinson Education LTD, London
- Nieland, H. (1982). The food of *Sardinella aurita* (Val.) and Sardinella eba (Val.) off the coast of Senegal. Rapportset procès-verbaux des reunions conseil international pour l'exploration de la mer, 180: 369-373.
- Nilson, N. A. (1967). Interactive segregation between fish species. In The Biological basis of freshwater fish production (S. D. Gerking, ed.), Oxford: *Blackwell Scientific Publications*. pp. 295–313.
- Nixon, S.W. (1995). Coastal marine eutrophication: A definition, social causes, and future concerns. *Ophelia* 41:199-219.
- Ntiamoa-Baidu, Y. (1991). Conservation of coastal lagoons in Ghana: the traditional approach. *Landscape and Urban Planning*. 20:41-46.

- Nunoo, F. K. E., Sossoukpe, E., Adite, A & Fiogbe, D. (2013). Food habits of two species of *Pseudotolithus* (Sciaenidae) off Benin (West Africa) nearshore waters and implications for management. DOI: 10.5897/IJFA12.076. Vol. 5(6), pp.142-151
- Odei, M. A, Ofori, J.C., & Biney, C. A. A. (1980). A report on the suitability of the waters of the Volta Estuary for water sports. Institute of Aquatic Biology Technical Report No.29,24 p
- Ofori-Danson, P. K. & Kumi, G. N. (2006). Food and Feeding Habit of Sarotherodon melanotheron, Rüppell, 1852 (Pisces: Cichlidae) in Sakumo Lagoon, Ghana. West African Journal of Applied Ecology, 10, 9 – 18.
- Okyere, I. (2010). Observations on the benthic macroinvertebrate and fish communities of the kakum estuary wetland in Ghana. thesis submitted to the department of fisheries and aquatic sciences, school of biological sciences, university of cape coast
- Okyere I., Aheto D. W. & Aggrey-Fynn J., (2011a). Comparative ecological assessment of biodiversity of fish communities in three coastal wetland systems in Ghana. *Eur. J. exp. Biol.* 1(2):178–188.
- Okyere I., Blay J. & Aggrey-Fynn J. (2011b). Hydrographic conditions and the macrozoobenthos of a coastal wetland in Ghana. *Int. J. Ecol. envir. Sci.* 37(1): 15–22.
- Okyere, I., Aheto, D. W., & Aggrey-Fynn, J. (2011). Pelagia Research Library. *European Journal of Experimental Biology*, 1(2), 178-188.

- Oliveira-Neto, J. F., R. S. Godefroid, G. M. L. N. Queiroz, R. & Schwarz, Jr. (2004). Variação diuturna na captura de peixes em uma planície de maré da Baía de Paranaguá, PR. Acta Biol. Leopol., 26: 125-138.
- Oribhabor, B. J. & Ogbeibu, A. E. (2012). The Food and Feeding Habits of Fish Species Assemblage in a Niger Delta Mangrove Creek, Nigeria. *Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 7: 134-149.
- Pailwan, I. F. Muley, D.V.and Maske, S. (2008). Proceedings of Taal 2007: The 12th World Lake Conference, India, 1643-1649.
- Paterson, A. W. & Whitfield, A. K. (2000). Do shallow-water habitats function as refuge for juvenile fishes? Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci., v.51, p. 359-364,
- Pauly, D. (1976). The biology, fishery and potential for aquaculture of Tilapia melanotheron in a small West African lagoon. Aquaculture 7, 33-49.
- Pessanha, A. L. M. & Araújo, F. G. (2003). Spatial, temporal and diel variations of fish assemblages at two sandy beaches in the Sepetiba Bay, RJ. Estuar. Coast. *Shelf Sci.*, 57: 817-828.
- Peterson, M. S., Comyns, B. H., Rakocinski, C. F., & Fulling, G. L. (1999).
 Does salinity affect somatic growth in early juvenile Atlantic croaker, Micropogonias undulatus (L.)? J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 238, 161–322.
- Phillips, G., Eminson, D. F., & Moss, B. (1978). A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters.
 Aquatic Botany 4: 103–126.G. PhillipsDF EminsonB. Moss1978A mechanism to account for macrophyte decline in progressively eutrophicated freshwaters. *Aquatic Botany*. 4103126

- Pielou, E. C. (1966). The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 13, 131-144.
- Pitt, T. K., Wells, R. & MicKone, W. D. (1981). A critique of research vessel otter trawls surveys by St. John's research and resource service. Can. Spec. Publ. Fish Aquat. Sci., 58:42-61
- Piscart, C., Moreteau, J. C., & Beisel, J. N. (2005). Biodiversity and structure of macroinvertebrate communities along a small permanent salinity gradient (Meurthe River, France). *Hydrobiologia* 551: 227–236.C.
- Polis, G. A. & Winemiller, K. O. (1996). Food webs: Integration of patterns and dynamics. Chapman & Hall, New York., p. 13-52
- Potts, G. W. (1990). Crespuscular behaviour of marine fishes. In: Herring, p. j.; campbell, a. k.; whitfield, w. & maddock, l. (Ed.) Light and life in the sea. Cambridge: *Cambridge Univ. Press*, p. 221-227.
- Porter, H. T. & Motta, P. J., (2004). Behavioral ecology of great barracuda. (PhD. Thesis.) University Of Georgia, *Georgia*. 117 pp.
- Quinn, N. J. (1980). Analysis of temporal changes in fish assemblages in Serpentine Creek, Queensland. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 5, 117-133.
- Quinn, T. P. (2004). The behavior and ecology of Pacific salmon and trout. Seattle: University of Washington Press.Reimers, P. E. 1971. The length of resdence of juvenile fall Chinook salmon in Sixes River, Oregon. Doctoral Thesis. *Oregon State University*. 320pp.
- Rabalais, N. N., Turner, R. E. & Wiseman, W. J. (2002). Gulf of Mexico hypoxia, aka the dead zone. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 33:235–263.

- Rangaswamy, C. P. (1973). Studies on theAge and growth and food habits of the Grey Mullet, *Mugil cephalus* Linnaeusof the Lake Pulicat. J. *Inland Fish. Soc. India*, 5: 9-21p
- Reum, J., T. Essington, C. Greene, C. Rice, & K. Fresh. (2011). Multiscale influence of climate on estuarine populations of forage fish: The role of coastal upwelling, freshwater flow and temperature. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. 425:203–215.
- Robertson, A. I. & Duke, N. C. (1990a). Mangrove fish communities in tropical Australia: spatial and temporal patterns in densities, biomass and community structure. *Mar. Biol.* 104, 369–379.
- Rodel, H. G., Volkl, W. & Kilias, H. (2004). Winter browsing of brown hares: evidence for diet breadth expansion. *Mamm Biol.* 69:410–419
- Romer, G. S., (1990). Surf zone fish community and species response to a wave energy gradient. $J F \sim s hB iol. 36:279-287$
- Romo, S., Villena, M. J., Sahuquillo, M., Soria, J. M., & Giménez, M. (2005).
 Response of a shallow Mediterranean lake to nutrient diversion: does it follow similar patterns as in northern shallow lakes? *Freshwater Biol* 50: 1706–1717.S. RomoMJ VillenaM. SahuquilloJM SoriaM. Giménez2005Response of a shallow Mediterranean lake to nutrient diversion: does it follow similar patterns as in northern shallow lakes? *Freshwater Biol* 50: 1706–1717.
- Rooker, J. R & Dennis, G.D. (1991). Diel, lunar and seasonal changes in a mangrove fish assemblage off southwestern Puerto Rico. *Bull. Mar. Sci.*, 48: 684-698.

- Rosenberg, N. D., Gdowski, G. E. & Knauss, K. G. (2001). Evaporative chemical evolution of natural waters at Yucca Mountain, *Nevada*. *Applied Geochemistry*. 16: 1231-1240
- Ryan, J. M. & Ntiamoa-Baidu, Y. (2000). Biodiversity and ecology of coastal wetlands in Ghana. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 9 (4), 445-446.
- Salin, K., Auer, S. K., Anderson, G. J., Selman, C., & Metcalfe, N. B., (2016). Inadequate food intake at high temperatures is related to depressed mitochondrial respiratory capacity. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 219(9), 1356-1362.
- Schallenberg, M., Hall, C. J., & Burns, C. W. (2003). Consequences of climate-induced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser.* 251: 181–189.
- Schemske, D. W., Mittelbach, G. G., Cornell, H. V., Sobel, J. M., & Kaustuv,
 R. (2009). Is there a Latitudinal Gradient in the Importance of Biotic Interactions? *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* 2009 40: 245–6.
- Scherer-Lorenzen, M. (2005). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Basic Principles. In: W. Barthlott, K. E. Linsenmair, & S. Porembski (Eds.) Biodiversity: Structure and Function. UK, Oxford: EOLSS Publishers. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/b137862
- Schneider, W. (1990). FAO Species Identification for Fishery Purposes: Field Guide to the Commercial Marine Resources of the Gulf of Guinea. FAO Publication RAFR/F1/90/2, Rome. 268 pp.
- Schoener, T. W., (1971) Theory of feeding strategies. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. 2:369–404

- Selig, E. R., Turner, W. R., Troëng, S., Wallace, B. P., Halpern, B. S., Kaschner, K., & Mittermeier, R. A., (2014). Global priorities for marine biodiversity conservation. *PloS one*, 9(1), e82898.
- Sheaves, M., & Molony, B., (2000). Short-circuit in the mangrove food chain. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 199, 97–109.
- Sheaves, M., Baker, R., Nagelkerken, I., & Connolly, R. M. (2014). True Value of Estuarine and Coastal Nurseries for Fish. DOI 10.1007/s12237-014-9846-x
- Sidibé A (2003). Les ressources halieutiques démersales côtières de la Guinée.
 Exploitation, biologie et dynamique des principales espèces de la communauté à Sciaenidés. *Thèse de Doctorat, Ensar, Rennes, France.*p.320.
- Silliman, B. R., J. van de Koppel, M. D. Bertness, L. E. Stanton, & I. A. Mendelssohn. (2005). Drought, snails, and large-scale die-off of southern U.S. salt marshes. *Science* 310:1803–1806.
- Silva, R. de Paula, E., Sousa, M. I. & Caramelo, A. M. (1993). The Maputo
 Bay Ecosystem (Mozambique). In Trophic Models of Aquatic Ecosystems. (V. Christensen and D. Pauly, ed.), pp. 214–223.
- Simpson, A. C. (1982). A review of the database on tropical multispecies stocks in the South East Asian region. In: Pauly, D., Murphy, G.L. (Eds.), Theory and Management of Tropical Fisheries. ICLARM and CSIRO, Cronulla Australia, pp. 5–32.
- Sokal, R. and Rohlf, F.(1987). Introduction to Biostatistics. Freeman, New York, USA

- Sosa-López, A., Mouillot, D., Ramos-Miranda, J., Flores-Hernandez, D., & Chi, T. D., (2007). Fish species richness decreases with salinity in tropical coastal lagoons. *Journal of Biogeography*, 34(1), 52-61.
- Southwood, T. R. E. (1978). Ecological methods. The English language Book Soc. And Chapman and Hall, Cambridge, 524pp
- Spach, H.L., Godefroid, R.S., Santos, C., Schwarz, R. Jr. & Queiroz, G. M. L. N. (2004). Temporal variation in fish assemblage composition on a tidal flat. *Braz. J. Oceanogr.*, 52:47-58.
- Stergiou, K. I., Economou, A., Papaconstantinou, C., Tsimenides, N., and Kavadas, S. (1998). Estimates of Discards in the Hellenic Commercial Trawl Fishery, vol. 35. pp. 490e491.
- Stergiou, K. I. & Karpouzi, V. S. (2002). Feeding habits and trophic levels of Mediterranean fish. *Reviews in fish biology and fisheries*, 11: 217-254.
- Svanback, R. & Bolnick, D. I. (2005). Intraspecific competition affects the strength of individual specialization: an optimal diet theory method. Evol Ecol Res 7:993–1012
- Tah, L.G., Gooré Bi, G. & Dacosta, K. S. (2012): Length-weight relationships for 36 freshwater fish species from two tropical reservoirs: Ayamé I and Buyo, Côte d["] Ivoire. *Int. J. Trop. Biol. Cons.*, 60(4): 1847-1856.
- Teixeira-de Mello, T., Meerhoff, M., Pekcan-Hekim, Z., & Jeppesen, E. (2009). Littoral fish community structure and dynamics differ substantially in shallow lakes under contrasting climates. Freshwater Biol 54: 1202–1215.T. Teixeira-de MelloM. MeerhoffZ. Pekcan-HekimE. Jeppesen 2009 Littoral fish community structure and

dynamics differ substantially in shallow lakes under contrasting climates. *Freshwater Biol.* 5412021215

Thomson, J. M. (1966). The grey mullets. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 4: 301–335.

- Tittensor, D. P., Mora, C., Jetz, W., Lotze, H. K., Ricard, D., Berghe, E. V., & Worm, B. (2010). Global patterns and predictors of marine biodiversity across taxa. *Nature*, 466(7310), 1098-1101.
- Tomlin, B.J. & Kyle, R. (1998). Subsistence and recreational mussel (Pernaperna) collecting in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: fishing mortality and precautionary management. *S. Afr. J. Zool.*
- Troadec, J. P. (1971). Biologie et dynamique d'un Sciaenidae oustafricain, *Pseudotolithus senegalensis* (V.). Centr.Océanogr. Abidjan, Doc. Scient. II. N°3, p. 225.
- Tyler, A. Y. (1971). Monthly changes in stomach contents of demersal fishes in Passamaquoddy Bay (N.B.). Fish Res Board Can Tech Rep. 288:1– 114
- Ugwumba, A. A. A. & Adebisi, A. (1992). The Food and Feeding Ecology of Sarotherodon melanotheron (Ruppell) in a Small Freshwater Reservoir in Ibadan, Nigeria. *Archiv fuer Hydrobiologie*, 124(3), 367-382.
- Verweij, M.C., Nagelkerken, I., Wartenbergh, S.L.J., Pen, I.R. & van der Velde, G., (2006). Caribbean mangroves and seagrass beds as daytime feeding habitats for juvenile French grunts, *Haemulon flavolineatum*. *Marine Biology*. 149, 1291-1299.
- Vitousek, P. M., Mooney, H. A., Lubchenco, J. & Melillo, J. M. (1997). Human domination of 517 Earth's ecosystems. Science 277, 494-499.

- Wallace R. K. & Fletcher K. M. (1996). Understanding Fisheries Management: A Manual for understanding the Federal Fisheries Management Process, Including Analysis of the 1996 Sustainable *Fisheries Act, 2nd edn.* 53 pp.
- Wang, Y. T., Tzeng, W. N. & Lee, S. C. (1991). A preliminary study on species composition and seasonal abundance of fish, fish eggs and larvae from the coastal waters adjacent to the Tanshui River Estuary, Tawian (1984–1985). J. Fisher. Soc. Taiwan. 18: 7–20.
- Warburton, K. & Blaber, S. J. M. (1992). Patterns of recruitment and resource use in a shallow water fish assemblage in Moreton, Bay, Queensl. *Mar. Prog. Ser.* 90: 113-126.
- Ward, J. M., Benaka, L. R., Moore, C. M., & Meyers, S. (2012). Bycatch in marine fisheries (Review). *Marine Fisheries Review* 74 (2), 13e25
- Wardle, C. S. (1993). Fish behavior and fishing gear. In: PITCHER, T. (Ed.). Behaviour of teleost fishes. London: Chapman and Hall, 715p.
- Welcomme, R. I. (1975). The Fisheries Ecology of African Floodplains. *CIFA Technical Paper*. 3, 51 pages
- Whitfield A.K., (1990). Life history styles of fishes in South African estuaries. Environmental Biology of Fish. 28: 295-308.
- Whitfield, A. K. (1994). Fish species diversity in southern African estuarine systems: an evolutionary perspective. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*. 40:37-48
- Whitfield, A. K. & Pattrick, P. (2015). Habitat type and nursery function for coastal marine fish species, with emphasis on the Eastern Cape region, South Africa. Estuarine, *Coastal and Shelf Science*, 160, 49-59.

- Williams, W. D., Boulton, A. J. & Taaffe, R. G. (1990). Salinity as a determinant of salt lake fauna: a question of scale. *Hydrobiologia* 197: 257–266p
- Yoklavich, M. M., Cailliet, G. M. Barry, J. P. Ambrose, D. A. & Antrim, B.
 S., (1991). Temporal and spatial patterns in abundance and diversity of fish assemblages in Elkhorn Slough, California. *Estuaries*. 14(4):465–480
- Zander, C. D., Nieder, J. & Martin, K. (1999). Vertical distribution patterns. In: Intertidal fishes: Life in two worlds Horn, M.H., Martin, K.L.M. and Chotkowski, M.A. eds. Academic Press. San Diego, pp. 26-53.
- Zahorcsak P, RA Silvano, I. & Sazima. (2000). Feeding biology of a guild of benthivorous fishes in a sandy shore on southeastern Brazilian coast. *Revista Brasileira de Biologia*. 60:511-518.
- Zarka, S. E. 1 & Sedfy, H. M. (1970). Thebiology & fisheries of *Mugil saliens* (Risso) in Lake Quorum, United ArabRepublic. UAR. J. Oceanogr. Fish., 1: 26 p

APPENDICES



Appendex A: Length-weight relationship for Liza dumerilli form (a)







Appendex B. Length-weight relationship for Liza falcipinnis form (a)



Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon





Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon

Appendex D: Length-weight relationship for Mugil bananensis form (a)



Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon

Appendex E: Length-weight relationship for Sardinella aurita form (a)



Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon

Appendex F: Length-weight relationship for Eusinostomus melanopterus



form (a) Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon





Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon



Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon

Appendex I: Length-weight relationship for Caranx hippos form (a)



Kakum river estuary and (b) Benya lagoon